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VISION 
• Facilitate the development of a competitive electricity market 

in the SADC region. 
• Give the end user a choice of electricity supplier. 
• Ensure that the southern African region is the region of choice 

for investment by energy intensive users. 
• Ensure sustainable energy developments through sound 

economic, environmental and social practices.

OBJECTIVES 
• Provide a forum for the development of a world class, robust, 

safe, efficient, reliable and stable interconnected electrical 
system in the southern African region. 

• Coordinate and enforce common regional standards of quality of 
supply, measurement and monitoring of systems performance. 

• Harmonise relationships between member utilities.

MISSION 
• Aim to provide the least cost, environmentally friendly 

and affordable energy and increase accessibility to rural 
communities.

STRATEGY 
• To be the most preferred region for investment for value for 

money by energy intensive users.

VALUES  
• Respect for others and develop mutual trust. 
• Honesty, complete fairness and integrity in dealing with issues. 
• Selfless discharge of duties. 
• Full accountability to the organisation and its stakeholders. 
• Encourage openness and objectivity.

 

1. VISION AND OBJECTIVES
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No Full Name of National Power Utility Status Abbreviation Country

1 Botswana Power Corporation OP BPC Botswana

2 Electricidade de Mocambique OP EDM Mozambique

3 Electricity Supply Corporation of Malawi NP ESCOM Malawi

4 ESKOM OP Eskom South Africa

5 Eswatini Electricity Company OP EEC Eswatini

6 Lesotho Electricity Corporation OP LEC Lesotho

7 NAMPOWER OP NamPower Namibia

8 Rede Nacional de Transporte de Electricidade NP RNT Angola

9 Societe Nationale d’Electricite OP SNEL DRC

10 Tanzania Electricity Supply Company Ltd NP TANESCO Tanzania

11 ZESCO Limited OP ZESCO Zambia

12 Zimbabwe Electricity Supply Authority OP ZESA Zimbabwe

No Full Name of Private Utility Status Abbreviation Country

13 Copperbelt Energy Cooperation ITC CEC Zambia

14 Hidroelectrica de Cahora Bassa IPP HCB Mozambique

15 Lunsemfwa Hydro Power Company IPP LHPC Zambia

16 Mozambique Transmission Company ITC MOTRACO Mozambique

17 Ndola Energy Corporation IPP Ndola Zambia

Table 1: Current SAPP membership
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3. ABOUT SAPP 

The SAPP was created in August 1995 at the 
SADC summit held in Kempton Park, South Africa, 
when member governments of SADC (excluding 
Mauritius) signed an Inter-Governmental 
Memorandum of Understanding, IGMOU for the 
formation of an electricity power pool in the 
region under the name of the Southern African 
Power Pool. The ministers responsible for energy 
in the SADC region signed the Revised Inter-
Governmental Memorandum of Understanding on 
the 23rd February 2006.

•  SAPP is governed by four agreements: 
• The IGMOU which enabled the establishment 

of SAPP
•  Inter-Utility Memorandum of Understanding, 

IUMOU which established SAPP’s basic 
management and operating principles

•  Agreement Between Operating Members, 
ABOM which established the specific rules 
of operation and pricing

•  Operating Guidelines, which provide 
standards and operating guidelines

There are seventeen members of SAPP of which 
twelve members are from the national power 
utilities in the SADC region, two members are 
independent transmission companies and the rest 
are independent power producers.  

The SAPP has four working committees; the 
Environmental Sub-Committee, the Markets Sub-
Committee, the Operating Sub-Committee and 

the Planning Sub-Committee under a Management 
Committee which in turn reports to the Executive 
Committee. The Markets Sub Committee is the 
latest sub-committee that was created in April 
2007 following the signing of the Revised Inter-
Utility Memorandum of Understanding by the 
SAPP Executive Committee on 25 April 2007. 
Also created in April 2007 was the Coordination 
Centre Board to govern the activities of the SAPP 
Coordination Centre, SAPP-CC. The SAPP-CC 
operational budget is from the annual subscription 
by the members. The SAPP capital budget is shared 
equally amongst all members, whilst projects are 
normally funded by cooperating partners

The SAPP provide a forum for regional solutions to 
electric energy problems. 
 The SAPP established the Short-Term Energy 
Market in April 2001. From January 2004, the 
SAPP started the development of a competitive 
electricity market for the SADC region.  The day 
ahead market (DAM) was established in December 
2009. In 2015 the SAPP started upgrading the 
market trading platform in preparation for the 
intra-day market and forward physical markets.

The SAPP opened for live trading in intra-day 
market (IDM) trading platform from the 1st 
December 2015. The SAPP introduced Forward 
Physical Monthly (FPM_M) and forward Physical 
Weekly (FPM-W) markets during the month of April 
2016.
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4. HIGHLIGHTS 2017/18

The SAPP main achievements for the fiscal period 
under consideration were as follows:

1. SAPP Strategic Direction 
 The SAPP Executive Committee held a 

strategic workshop focusing on effective 
project implementation, communication 
strategy and how to develop strategies for 
the utility of the future.

2. Generation Capacity Expansion 
 SAPP commissioned new generation capacity 

as indicated below:
• A total capacity equivalent to 3,008 MW was 

commissioned in 2017 and thus increased the 
region’s installed capacity to 67.19GW. The 
projects were commissioned by both Public 
utilities and Independent Power Producers 
(IPPs)

• Renewables contributed 19% of new 
generation capacity in the period under review.

3. Growth in Demand
• The SAPP Pool Plan was completed and 

adopted by the SAPP Executive Committee.
• It is USD 34 billion cheaper over a 40-year 

period to go for the regional integrated 
approach than pursuing national plans. 
The projects of regional significance were 
identified.

4. The SAPP Pool Plan
•  The SAPP Pool Plan was completed and 

adopted by the SAPP Executive Committee.
• It is USD 34 billion cheaper over a 40-year 

period to go for the regional integrated 
approach than pursuing national plans. 
The projects of regional significance were 
identified.

5. Competitive Market in SAPP 
• A total of 2,154 GWh was matched and 2,124 

MWh or 99% being traded on the market in 
2017/18. The traded amount in the previous 
year represented 34%.

• USD 106.6 million exchanged via the 
competitive market in the current year 
compared to USD75.6 million in the previous 
year.

6. Projects Preparation 
 SAPP continued discussions with various 

partners to get assistance to fulfil the vision 
of SAPP. Discussions were around capacity 
building, technical assistance and securing 
project preparatory funding.

7. Stakeholder Engagement
 SAPP continues to engage with key 

stakeholders that includes industry, regulators, 
governments and the International Cooperating 
Partners (ICPs). Through various forums, SAPP 
has been presenting its achievements and 
highlighting areas of improvement.

8. Staff Issues
 Engineer Stephen Dihwa joined SAPP as the 

Coordination Centre Manager with effect from 
1 December 2017.

 Engineer Brian Dlamini joined SAPP as the 
Planning Engineer with effect from 1 November 
2017.
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5. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 2017/2018

The SAPP main achievements for the fiscal period 
under consideration were as follows:

1. SAPP Strategic Direction
The SAPP Executive Committee held a strategic 
workshop focusing on effective project 
implementation, communication strategy and how 
to develop strategies for the utility of the future.

2. Generation Capacity Expansion
SAPP commissioned new generation capacity as 
indicated below:

• A total capacity equivalent to 3,008 MW was 
commissioned in 2017 and thus increased the 
region’s installed capacity to 67.19GW. The 
projects were commissioned by both Public 
utilities and Independent Power Producers 
(IPPs)

• Renewables contributed 19% of new 
generation capacity in the period under 
review.

3. Growth in Demand
Electricity demand increased by 2.9 % in the period 
under review to a total of 50,741 MW. 

4. The SAPP Pool Plan
• The SAPP Pool Plan was completed and 

adopted by the SAPP Executive Committee.
• It is USD 34 billion cheaper over a 40-year 

period to go for the regional integrated 
approach than pursuing national plans. 
The projects of regional significance were 
identified.

5. Competitive Market in SAPP
• A total of 2,154 GWh was matched and 

2,124 MWh or 99% being traded on the 
market in 2017/18. The traded amount in 
the previous year represented 34%.

• USD 106.6 million exchanged via the 
competitive market in the current year 
compared to USD75.6 million in the previous 
year.

6. Projects Preparation
SAPP continued discussions with various 
partners to get assistance to fulfil the vision 
of SAPP. Discussions were around capacity 
building, technical assistance and securing project 
preparatory funding.

7. Stakeholder Engagement
SAPP continues to engage with key stakeholders 
that includes industry, regulators, governments 
and the International Cooperating Partners 
(ICPs). Through various forums, SAPP has been 
presenting its achievements and highlighting areas 
of improvement.

8. Staff Issues
Engineer Stephen Dihwa joined SAPP as the 
Coordination Centre Manager with effect from 1 
December 2017. Engineer Brian Dlamini joined 
SAPP as the Planning Engineer with effect from 1 
November 2017.



112018 ANNUAL REPORT

6. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE 

Mr Josh Chifamba
ZESA

CEO-HCB Mr Alexander Patrick Chileshe
CEO LHPC

Motraco

John Juma Nyongesa-
NDOLA

Mr Mateus Magala  
EDM

Dr. Tito Mwinuka
TANESCO

ESKOM-phakamani
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Meshack Kunene
EEC

BPC CEO - DR. STEFAN 
SCHWARZFISCHER
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7. EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE CHAIRMAN’S REPORT
              
 

ENG. JOSH CHIFAMBA
Group Chief Executive Officer of ZESA Holdings

SAPP Executive Committee Chairperson

1. Introduction and Highlights
• Electricity demand increased by 2.9 % in the 

period under review.
•  Installed generation capacity stood at 67,190 

MW with operating capacity of 60,719 MW 
against a demand and reserve of 58,106 MW 
resulting in an excess generation capacity of 
2,613 MW. 

•  New generation installed capacity amounting 
to 3,008 MW was commissioned in 2017 of 
which 19 % was from renewable energy.

•  Electrical energy traded on the SAPP 
competitive market increased to 2,124 GWh 
from 1,023 GWh in the previous year.

1.1 Generation and Transmission Projects
SAPP installed a total of 22,606 MW of new 
generation capacity in the last 13 years which 
gives an annual average of 1,739 MW of new 
generation capacity.

1.2 SAPP Competitive Electricity Market
• A total of 2,154 GWh was matched and 

2,124 GWh or 99% being traded on the 
market in 2017/18. The traded amount in 
the previous year represented 34%.

•  USD 106.6 million exchanged via the 
competitive market in the current year 
compared to USD75.6 million in the previous 
year.

•  The competitive market share increased from 
11 % to 24 % in the current year.

2. Power Supply
The table below shows the committed generation 
projects for the period 2018 to 2022 which could 
result in the addition of 26,108 MW to the SAPP 
grid against a projected additional demand of 
12,000MW over the same period.

Table 2: Committed Generation Projects  
    Planned 2018 to 2022   
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3. SADC Meetings

3.1 SADC Energy Ministers Meeting
The SADC Energy Ministers meeting was held in 
Manzini, Swaziland on 11 July 2017 and was 
followed by the SADC investors conference. The 
status of the priority generation and transmission 
projects were presented including the progress on 
the electricity trading on the SAPP  Competitive 
Market.

3.2 7th SADC River Basin Workshop and 
Energy - Food Nexus Workshop

The SADC is implementing the SADC nexus 
dialogue whose overall objective is to support the 
transformation required to meet increasing water, 
energy and food security demand in a context of 
climate change in the region through development 
of an integrated nexus approach. To achieve 
the objective, SADC convened a River Basin 
Organization workshop which SAPP participated in 
whose objectives were:

• To unpack the issues and challenges and 
discuss the importance of investing in water 
resources quality management in the region 

•  Share practical practices in water quality 
management in the region 

•  Increase the understanding of water-food-
energy nexus approaches in the region 

4. Executive Committee Meetings
In the period under review, two Executive 
Committee meetings were held. The first meeting 
was held in Malawi in October 2017 and the 
second meeting in the Swaziland in March 2018. 

4.1 43rd Executive Committee Meeting 
The 43rd SAPP Executive Committee meeting was 
held in Lilongwe, Malawi and was officially opened 
by the Minister of Natural Resources, Energy 
and Mining, Honourable Aggrey Masi, MP. He 
stressed the need for greater regional integration 
and to have the non-operating members Angola, 
Malawi and Tanzania connected to the SAPP grid 
as their interconnection brings diversity of energy 
resources.

Honourable Minister of Natural Resources, Energy and 
Mining, and SAPP Executive Committee Members

4.2 44th SAPP Meetings in Swaziland
The 44th SAPP Executive Committee Meeting took 
place in Ezulwini, Swaziland on 22 March 2018 
and was officially opened by Honourable Minister 
of Energy and Natural Resources, Honourable 
Jabulile Mashwama.

 



152018 ANNUAL REPORT

44th SAPP Executive Committee Meeting Official 
Opening Ceremony

The SAPP Executive Committee meeting was 
preceded by the SAPP Executive Committee 
Strategic Workshop where the Executive Committee 
addressed key strategic issues for SAPP.

4.3 Executive Committee Strategic Workshop
The SAPP Executive Committee held a Strategic 
Workshop to address the following key issues:

•  How to develop mechanisms for the 
promotion and implementation of regional 
projects; 

•  How to develop marketing and communication 
strategies for SAPP for priority Stakeholders 
like Governments; 

• How to develop strategies for the utility of 
the future and adapt to changing trends, so 
that SAPP can remain relevant. 

A Special Task Team was formed to spear head the 
issues.

5. Acknowledgement
I would like to take this opportunity and thank the 
members of the SAPP Executive Committee for 
the support that I have received from them as the 
Chairperson of the SAPP Executive Committee.  I 
would like to wish the incoming Chair success.

ENG. JOSHUA CHIFAMBA
Chairperson, Executive Committee 
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8. MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE REPORT 2017/18
 

 

MR. ERNEST MKHONTA
General Manager Operations, SEC

Management Committee Chairperson

1. Introduction  
We continued to provide strategic guidance to the 
SAPP planning, environmental, operations and 
markets sub-committees during the year under 
review. 

2. Projects Development Readiness 
Assessments

As part of the strategy to equip utility project 
managers with relevant tools as well as have a 
common platform for comparing project status, 
the SAPP continued to train relevant members at 
utilities on the use of the PDRA tool. Members 
appreciated the use of PDRA in evaluating projects 
and agreed to adopt the tool in the evaluation 
of all their projects in terms of readiness for 
implementation. 
 

The LEC Acting Chief Executive Officer flanked by 
SAPP-CC staff members and the LEC members who 
received training on the use of PDRA Tool in Maseru

A total of 70 utility representatives from EDM, 
HCB, SEC, ZESCO, CEC and LEC were trained during 
the year. The remaining utilities are scheduled to 
be trained in the next financial year.

3. SAPP Management Committee Visit to 
Europe

The SAPP Management Committee (MANCO) 
undertook a study visit to Europe focusing on 
Electricity Markets and Power Pool Operations 
from 17 to 25 November 2017. The tour was 
sponsored by the Government of Norway and Sida 
funding support to SAPP. A total of 20 participants 
from SAPP attended the study tour.
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The tour covered the following institutions and 
countries:

• RTE – Paris, France
• EPEX – Paris France
•  Coreso – Brussels, Belgium
•  ENTSO-E – Brussels, Belgium
•  StatKraft – Oslo, Norway
•  NordPool – Oslo, Norway and a
•  presentation from Denmark on renewable 

energy.

The following are some of the areas covered during 
the study tour:

•  Electricity Market structure and organization 
of the electricity industry in Europe 

•  Power market operations in France, Europe 
and the Nordic regions

• Transmission capacity management
•  Online transmission system operations 

management
•  Balancing market including balance responsible 

entities and congestion management
•  Access to interconnections and the different 

European network codes
•  Real time operation training of system 

controllers on handling of system disturbances
•  Operation of a power spot exchange
• Renewable energy integration

The valuable experience gained is being considered 
by SAPP in its various activities.

4. Management Committee Meetings

4.1 49th SAPP Management Meetings

The 49th SAPP Management Committee meeting 
was held in Pretoria, South Africa on 8 September 
2017. During the Official Opening, the Minister 
responsible for Energy emphasised the need for 
regional integration in the energy sector.

The theme of the meeting was “Meeting demand 
through regional cooperation, sustainable projects 
implementation and efficient regional electricity 
trading”.

Ms Mmamoloko Kubayi, Minister of Energy of South 
Africa delivers speech at the SAPP Meeting

 Minister Responsible for Energy, Eskom Executives 
and SAPP Management
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 Minister Responsible for Energy, Eskom Executives 
and SAPP Management Committee Members

4.2 50th SAPP Management Meeting
The 50th SAPP Management Committee meeting 
was held in Livingstone, Zambia on 1 March 
2018. The meeting was organised under the 
theme “SAPP leveraging on the current excess to 
promote regional interconnectivity and electricity 
trading in the SADC region”. The meeting was 
Officially opened by the Zambian Minister for the 
Southern Province, Dr Edify Hamukale.

 

Minister addresses delegates and officially opens the 
SAPP meetings in Livingstone, Zambia.

SAPP Management Committee meeting delegates with 
Zambian Government Officials

4.3 Crime and Prevention Working Group 
Meeting

The Crime Prevention Working Group (CPWG) 
continues to implement strategies to combat 
theft and vandalism of the power network in the 
SAPP utilities. Reports for the year under review 
indicated an increase in the number on vandalism 
of Network infrastructure and cases of theft of 
power equipment Compared to the same period 
in 2016. It was noted that the main targets are 
underground and overhead copper cables as well 
as distribution transformers and transformer oil. 
This is resulting in massive losses of revenue as 
well as black-outs in affected areas.
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Members of the Crime Prevention Working Group 
during an excursion of the Gobholo Cave in Swaziland 

5. Integrated Demand Management
The Integrated Demand Management Working 
Group (IDMWG) convened a meeting in Maputo, 
Mozambique from 24 to 25 July 2017. Members 
agreed to focus on energy efficient sales with 
emphasis on:

• Energy Availability Factor
• Maintaining sales to the current connected 

customers 
• Undertaking a network profile analysis 
•  Focusing more on customer benefits and 

lifestyle using social aspects perceptions 
•  Adoption of procedures for adequate 

implementation of Measurement and 
Verification Guidelines by utilities for uniform 
and independent assessment 

SAPP members continue to implement Demand 
Side Management strategies to close the gap 
between supply and demand. It was noted that all 

the utilities are migrating from compact fluorescent 
lamps (CFLs) to light emitting diodes (LEDs). A 
cumulative savings of 2,878 MW was reported 
from 2009 to date. The working group is currently 
preparing a proposal for Measurement & Verification 
(M&V) framework for the short-term. The IDMWG 
is also working with the climate Technology Centre 
Network of the UN implementing energy efficient 
appliances in the region. Country assessments of 
the current state of energy efficient technologies 
were done for all SAPP member states during the 
year. An evaluation of the current state will be 
presented at a regional workshop and the way 
forward will be mapped.

Another meeting for the IDMWG was held in 
Namibia in February 2018.

 

Members of the Integrated Demand Management 
Working Group during the meeting held in Windhoek, 

Namibia
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I would like to thank the SAPP Coordination Centre, 
members of the SAPP Management Committee and 
our cooperating partners for their contribution to 
the SAPP achievements for the year 2017/18.

        

ERNEST MKHONTA
Management Committee Chairperson
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9. PLANNING SUB-COMMITTEE REPORT 2017/18

 
                       

ENG. FRANCIS NAMAKANDA 
ZESCO Planning Sub-Committee Chairperson

1.  Introduction
It is my ultimate pleasure to present the Planning 
Sub Committee (PSC) 2017 annual report. In the 
year under review 3,008 MW of new generation 
capacity was commissioned and thus has 
increased the region’s total installed capacity to 
67.19 GW. Some utilities had generation capacity 
surplus with a total regional surplus amounting to 
2 957 MW in 2017.

All countries have committed generation projects 
which are planned to be commissioned in the next 
five years with a total capacity of 26,108 MW.  

2. SAPP Key Figures and Facts
• Electricity demand increased by 1.51 % in 

the period under review.
•  Installed generation capacity stood at 67,190 

MW with 62,343 MW being the installed 
generation capacity for operating members

•  The operating capacity stood at 60,719 
MW for all members and 57,045 MW for 
operating members.

•  The current peak demand and reserves is 
57,762 MW for all members and 54,049 
MW for operating members

•  The capacity excess including reserves is at 
2,957 MW for all members and 2,996 MW 
for operating members only.

•  New generation installed capacity amounting 
to 3,008 MW was commissioned in 2017.

3. SAPP Demand and Supply Situation

3.1 Current Power Supply Situation and 
Landscape

The pie chart below shows the current installed 
capacity contributions by generation technology.

 
 Figure1: SAPP Installed Capacity by Technology
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3.2 History of New Generation Capacity
A total of 21,983 MW of new generation 
capacity have been commissioned in the last 10 
years giving an annual average of 2,198 MW 
installed per annum. Figure 2 below shows the 
completed generation projects:          

        
         
Figure 2: Completed Generation Projects Commissioned 

from 2007 to 2017

3.3 Generation Supply and Project Tracking
A total capacity equivalent to 3,580 MW was 
commissioned in 2016. The projects were 
commissioned by both Public utilities and 
Independent Power Producers (IPPs).

The generation projects commissioned in 2017 
are shown in the Table 1 below:
 

Table 1: Generation Projects Commissioned  
      in 2017

Independent Power Producers (IPPs) contributed 
19% (560 MW) of the new generation capacity 
in 2017. In terms of the generation mix, Figure 
3 below shows the contribution of renewables in 
the total generation capacity.  

 

Figure 3: Generation mix for new installed capacity
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3.4  Future Outlook

Up to 26,108 MW is planned to be commissioned 
between 2018 and 2022.  Table 3 shows the 
details of the planned generation projects to be 
commissioned in each country within a 5-year 
period. 

Table 3: Committed Generation Projects      
       Planned  2018 to 2022

The pie chart below shows the composition of 
the new generation technologies during the period 
2018 to 2022. This demonstrates the increasing 
penetration of renewable energy technologies in 
the future. Independent Power Producers are also 
going to play a critical role by supplying 24% of 
the new generation capacity in the same period.
  

Figure 4: New generation capacity by technology
(2017 to 2022)

The diversity of the energy resources will create 
an opportunity for electricity trading and improved 
security and reliability of supply.

4. SAPP Pool Plan Update
The final version of the SAPP Pool Plan report 
was issued in December 2017 and the Pool Plan 
report was adopted by SAPP Executive Committee 
in March 2018. The results show the following 
for the regional case up to 2040:
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Table 4: SAPP Pool Plan output results 

It is USD 34 billion cheaper (-22%) over a 40-year 
period to go for the regional integrated approach 
than pursuing national plans. More transmission 
corridors are developed

The dissemination of the SAPP Pool Plan will need 
to be done including highlighting the economic 
benefits for each country. A dissemination 
workshop where all stakeholders (utilities, 
governments, regulators, cooperating partners) 
will be conducted and the SAPP Pool Plan will be 
presented to the SADC Energy Minister’s meeting.

5. SAPP EAPP Transmission Integration 
Impact Study

The SAPP secured funding from the World Bank to 
carry out the SAPP EAPP Transmission Integration 
Impact study. The objective of the study is to 
assess the dynamic stability of interconnecting the 
two power pools. A Consultant was apointed for 
the study for a period of 12 months.

The first inception workshop was held in Lusaka, 
Zambia in September 2017 and representatives 
from both EAPP and SAPP attended the workshop. 
The main purpose of the inception workshop was 
to discuss preliminary analysis and concept as 
well validation and verification the accuracy of the 
information supplied by the utilities.

A Draft SAPP-EAPP Interconnection Impact Studies 
report was issued in December 2017 and the 
outcomes of that report was discussed in the 
second workshop which was held in February 
2018. The workshops serve as an integral part of 
the development and validation of the prescribed 
deliverables. There are two upcoming workshops 
for this project, namely:

• Workshop 3, scheduled for April 2018. This 
is a special workshop for OSC and MSC and 
will be conducted once a no objection is 
received from the World Bank. The workshop 
will be used to present and discuss findings 
from the Draft Studies report and finalise any 
gap analysis on the markets and operations 
of the pool.

•  Workshop 4, scheduled for August 2018. 
The objective of this workshop is to present 
the implementation plan which will include 
a list of recommendations and associated 
development requirements to ensure the 
harmonised operation of the systems on day 
one and beyond. 
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The project had four-month delay and the final 
report is expected in August 2018.

6. Renewable Energy
Funding was secured for the study on the Impact of 
Renewable Energy Technologies on the SAPP Grid. 
The procurement of consultant to carry out the 
study is in progress and request for expression of 
interest have been issued. The terms of reference 
have been updated and the scope of work is now 
in 2 parts. Part 1 focuses on high level review of 
techno-economic and regulatory issues and is to 
be done in 3 months and part 2 would be done 
in 6 months focusing on generation planning and 
dispatch simulation studies. The 2 parts can be 
done concurrently. The study outcome for part 1 is 
in December 2018.

7. Transmission Interconnector Projects
The status quo of transmission interconnector 
projects is at various stages and the prioritisation of 
this projects are categorised into three categories, 
namely:

•  Category 1: Projects to Interconnect non-
operating members

•  Category 2: Projects to relieve transmission 
congestion

•  Category 3: Projects to move power from 
new generating stations to load centres

The status of key transmission projects is 
highlighted below:

7.1 Zimbabwe - Zambia – Botswana –Namibia 
Interconnector (ZIZABONA)

The business case development, basic design and 
project cost estimates have been produced for the 
three components, namely:

• Component A: Zimbabwe-Zambia
•  Component B: Zimbabwe-Botswana
•  Component C: Zambia-Namibia

The funding for the construction will need to be 
secured and discussions are at an advanced stage 
for securing funding for the Zimbabwe-Zambia 
portion. 

Zambia-Namibia portion: The SAPP PAU is working 
with the sponsors to develop a funding solution. 
An implementation agreement has been drafted 
and it is being reviewed by the sponsors.

7.2 Zambia – Tanzania – Kenya Interconnector
Construction of Mbeya – Kasama line is underway. 
Kasame - Nakonde Contract in Zambia was 
awarded. Construction will be up to Chipata (14km 
to border with Tanzania).

The project expected to be commissioned by 
December 2021. 

7.3 MOZISA Transmission Project
The IGMOU has been signed by the 3 government.  
The Environmental and Social Impact Assessment 
(ESIA) was finalized in Zimbabwe. The project is 
now being developed in 2 components and the 
utilities are discussing bilaterally. 
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• Component A of the project will focus on 
developing the interconnector between 
Zimbabwe and South Africa (ZISA). 

• Component B will develop infrastructure to 
interconnect Mozambique and Zimbabwe 
(MOZI)

Phasing the project will assist to de-risk the project 
and allow development to be fast-tracked to 
facilitate the already available surplus generation 
capacity in South Africa. Component B is dependent 
on several factors including the completion of 
planned generation projects within Mozambique 
which are still under development.

7.4 Mozambique  - Malawi Interconnector 
The inception report for environmental studies was 
approved. Update of existing studies is being done 
to consider 400 kV voltage level. The project is 
planned for commissioning in 2020.

7.5 Botswana –South Africa (BOSA) 
Interconnector 

The business case scenarios have been developed. 
Work on the network modelling and market analysis 
was completed. The commercial structures and 
options were presented by the consultant and 
adopted. The BOSA ESIA still needs to be approved.

7.6 Angola – Namibia Interconnector 
The Angola-Namibia Interconnector prefeasibility 
report was approved by the stakeholders covering 

the options and line route selection, market 
analysis, preliminary design, pre-feasibility 
financial analysis and cost estimates and potential 
commercial structures. A consultant has been 
appointed to carry out a detailed feasibility study. 
The planned commissioning date is 2020.

7.7 Malawi – Zambia Interconnector
This project is at concept/pre-feasibility stage. 
The IGMOU and IUMOU on the Malawi- Zambia 
330kV Interconnector Project were signed by the 
two Governments and their respective Utilities in 
May 2015. 

7.8 Malawi –Tanzania Interconnector
This project is at concept/pre-feasibility stage. 
The next step is for the two Member States to 
develop and sign IGMOU and IUMOU.  The two 
Governments are in the process of soliciting 
funding for the joint project.

7.9 Mozambique – Zambia Interconnector
The SAPP secured funding from the African 
Development Bank and USTDA for Transaction 
Advisory services for the preparation of the 
project. Technical assessments for the Feasibility 
Studies and the ESIA process has been completed. 
A consultant has been appointed for the technical 
and environmental feasibility studies.

7.10 Mozambique –Tanzania Interconnector
The IUMOU was signed by the utilities. A pre-
appraisal mission for the needs assessment was 
undertaken by SAPP and AFDB. A project concept 
note has been prepared.



272018 ANNUAL REPORT

7.11 2nd South Africa – Namibia Interconnector
Network studies were perfomed and completed. 
The initial planned commisioning date is 2020.

7.12 Kolwezi – Solwezi Interconnector

The funding was secured from NEPAD for detailed 
feasibility studies up to financial closure. The 
technical and environmental Consultants were 
appointed.

8. Workshops and Seminars

8.1 SAPP-EAPP Integration Impact Studies
The SAPP Planning Sub Committee has been 
actively involved in the SAPP-EAPP Integration 
Impact Studies. Three stakeholder workshops 
were held in Lusaka, Dar es Salaam and Pretoria, 
respectively and its main objective was to provide 
a mechanism for the active participation of a 
broad range of SAPP and EAPP representatives 
to contribute to the development of the study 
outcomes and ensure that skills transfer are 
effected in the engagement process.
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10. OPERATING SUB-COMMITTEE (OSC) REPORT

 

MR. JOHN DIYA
Senior Manager (Electricity Trading and Operations), 

ZESA, Zimbabwe,
 Operating Sub-Committee Chairperson.

1.    Introduction
This report covers key issues and activities from 
the operations of the SAPP interconnected power 
system. The period under review is from 1 April 
2017 to 31 March 2018. Highlights for this period 
are as follows:

1.1 Reduction in load-shedding
This year the aggregate peak demand for SAPP 
Operating Members (excluding non-operating 
members) was 47,495 MW against an operating 
or available capacity of 57,045 MW. This peak 
demand is a simple summation of peak demands of 
individual member power systems usually occurring 
at different times. The peak demand excludes 
loads that were curtailed or reduced mainly due 
to generation capacity constraints and, in isolated 
cases, due to insufficient transmission capacity. 
Compared with the previous year, the peak demand 

rose by 3,993 MW. This was attributed partly to 
commissioning of new generation, especially in 
South Africa and Zambia, and partly to improved 
hydrology in the Zambezi catchment area, that 
resulted in considerable reduction of load-shedding 
in the region. 

1.2 Updating of the SAPP Methodology for 
Handling Energy Interchange Imbalances

The SAPP implemented the power-frequency-based 
methodology for handling energy interchange 
imbalances in the year 2010. Over the years 
some issues that were not pertinent at the very 
beginning cropped up. These included: 
(i) imbalances caused by tripping of generation on 
over-frequency protection in one area following a 
disturbance in another area; and 
(ii) interruption of scheduled interchange mid-way 
in an hour or several minutes from top of the hour, 
having already delivered some energy. 

Therefore, on 24 April 2017 the SAPP Markets 
Sub-Committee (MSC) and the Operating Sub-
Committee (OSC) met jointly in Johannesburg, 
South Africa, and resolved cross-cutting issues on 
handling of inter-Control Area energy imbalances. 
The joint meeting also developed a procedure for 
handling intra-Control Area energy imbalance within 
a Control Area. The developed procedure would 
apply where there are no bilateral arrangements 
for handling intra-Control Area energy imbalance 
between SAPP members.
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2. SAPP Operating Guidelines Compliance 

Compliance to Operating Guidelines is key to 
the secure and reliable operation of the SAPP 
interconnected power system. In 2016 the SAPP 
introduced warnings and financial penalties on 
some guidelines so as to enforce compliance. In July 
2017, the SAPP Coordination Centre carried out a 
survey of the 3 Control Area Operators (Eskom, 
ZESA and ZESCO) to verify implemented input 
parameters and methods for calculation of Control 
Performance Standards. It was observed that input 
parameters and some applied methods were not 
harmonised among Control Area operators. On 
calculation of Accredited Capacity Obligation 
(ACO), there was need to resolve handling market 
transactions, interruptible loads, and handling 
capacity figures for renewable power plants. The 
OSC formed a task team to resolve these issues 
and recommended that implementation of penalties 
be deferred to 01 April 2018. MANCO approved 
this. 

3.   Power Supply Emergency and Blackstart 
Preparedness

In a continuous bid to ensure reliability of the 
interconnected power system, the OSC formed 
a task team to prepare for major power supply 
emergencies and update blackstart procedures. The 
task team held its first workshop meeting from 25 
to 26 April 2017 in Johannesburg, South Africa. 
During the meeting, country or utility reports on 
blackstart procedures were received and respective 
power utility emergency preparedness plans were 
discussed. Furthermore, regional interconnection 
risks and associated treatment plans were 

highlighted. It was noted that coordination of 
defence barriers and integration of technical 
responses for power supply restoration during 
emergencies were very important. At the second 
workshop meeting held from 17 to 18 January 
2018, the task team discussed power system 
restoration plans, interdependencies among SAPP 
power utilities, defence barriers, and emergency 
response structure.

 

Figure 1: Some Members of the Power Supply 
Emergency Preparedness and Blackstart Task Team in 

Johannesburg, South Africa.

4.   Telecommnunications
After commissioning the redundant parallel route of 
the SAPP optic fibre network in the central corridor 
(South Africa-Botswana-Zimbabwe-Zambia) 
in March 2017, the SAPP Telecommunications 
Working Group (TWG) focussed on system 
reliability, cyber security, and optimisation of 
the telecommunications capacity along the route. 
Automatic change-over, in the event of failure of 
one route, was tested. Refer to Figure 2 for the 
map of Southern Africa, showing the SAPP fibre 
optic network. A solution to protect SCADA and 
telecommunication systems against cyber security 
is still to be implemented.
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Furthermore, the TWG proposed implementation of 
the SAPP video conferencing system which would 
use the available capacity on the SAPP optic fibre 
telecommunication channel. In September 2017, 
the SAPP Management Committee (MANCO) 
approved implementation of this project. 

Concerning sharing of SCADA data through ICCP 
(inter-Control Centre Protocol), the TWG was in the 
process of addressing challenges in inter-operability 
of old SCADA systems in some utilities. However, 
Eskom (South Africa), ZESA (Zimbabwe) and 
ZESCO (Zambia), and SAPP Coordination Centre 
were smoothly sharing selected data through ICCP.  
 

Figure 2: Map of Southern Africa showing the SAPP 
fibre optic network

5. Training of System Controllers
System Controllers monitor and control the 
interconnected power system 7 days a week and 
24 hours a day. Sometimes system conditions 
necessitate changing of market schedules during 
off-hours. Therefore, from 22 to 24 August 2017, 
the SAPP Markets Section organised a training 

workshop for SAPP System Controllers on the 
use of the SAPP Market Trading Platform (SAPP-
MTP) in Johannesburg, South Africa. The training 
covered the following:  

• Operation of the day ahead market (DAM); 
•  Operation of the intraday market (IDM);  
•  Operation of the forward physical markets 

(month-ahead and week-ahead markets); 
and, 

•  Operation of the bilateral wheeling and 
losses settlement modules.

Almost all SAPP utilities organised in-house 
training for system controllers. 

6. Reported SAPP System Disturbances
SAPP system disturbances are those disturbances 
that interrupt scheduled energy interchange among 
SAPP member utilities or those that lead to excursion 
of power system frequency outside the 50±0.50 
Hz band. In the period under review, compared to 
the previous year, the number of reported SAPP 
system disturbances increased by 4 (from 16 
to 20). Refer to Figure 3 and Figure 4 below for 
monthly comparison and Table 1 for the causes 
and originating utilities. SAPP Operating Members 
took various actions to mitigate occurrence of 
system disturbances as shown in Table 2. Besides, 
to improve system stability, HCB of Mozambique 
and ZESCO of Zambia in the period under review 
were re-tuning Power System Stabilisers (PSSs) 
and Automatic Voltage Regulators (AVRs) at their 
major power stations. 
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Figure 3: Reported SAPP System Disturbances in the year 2016/2017

 

Figure 4: Reported SAPP System Disturbances in the year 2017/2018
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Table 1: Causes and originating utilities of 
             SAPP system disturbances

Cause Action Taken / Comments

Faulty 
equipment

• In BPC, faulty 400 kV 
isolator was replaced;

• In CEC, a broken 
conductor was repaired, 
and faulty 66 kV CTs 
were replaced;

• In NamPower HVDC 
controllers were ordered 
and will be replaced; and,

• Maintenance was 
generally enhanced in 
most utilities.

Table 2: Action taken to mitigate system     
             disturbances

UTILITY

CAUSE 

Protection mal-
operation 1 1

Faulty HVDC 
converter bridges 2 3

Faulty equipment 2 2 1 2 1
Generator 
trip/Shortage of 
generation

2

Human error 2
Fire from burning 
sugarcane
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7. Energy Traders and System Controllers 
    Forum
The 14th SAPP Annual Energy Traders and System 
Controllers Forum was held from 25 to 26 October 
2017 in Gaborone, Botswana. The forum was 
officially opened by the Botswana Power Company 
(BPC) Chief Operating Officer, Mr. Jonathan 
Raheem Hosseini. In his speech, he observed the 
important role traders and controllers play in the 

Faulty auxiliary 
systems

• Faulty generator auxiliary 
systems, including power 
supplies and sensors 
were repaired in Eskom 
and HCB.

Converter bridge 
faults

• Rehabilitation of old 
HVDC converter bridges 
was being done in HCB 
and Eskom.

Human error • • System controllers were 
re-trained on safety and 
operation procedures to 
prevent human error.

Protection mal-
protection

• In ZESA, a faulty auto-
reclose protection relay 
was replaced; and, in 
general,

• Relay testing and 
maintenance was 
enhanced.

Sugarcane 
burning fire

• Communication and 
coordination with 
stakeholders/farmers 
were enhanced in EDM 
and Eskom.
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efficient operation of the interconnected power 
system. Participants shared information about their 
power systems and discussed various challenges 
in energy trading and system operations, including 
transmission constraints and system disturbances. 
They also visited the 400/220 kV BPC Isang 
substation for familiarisation.

 

Figure 5: Some of the Energy Traders and System 
Controllers at Isang 400/220 kV Substation during the 

14th SAPP Annual Traders and Controllers Forum 

8. Quality of Power Supply
Power quality issues are becoming more prominent 
to regulators, power utilities and customers. A 
few years ago the OSC formed a working group 
on power quality. The working group developed 
a SAPP standard for power quality as well as a 
specification for a SAPP power quality meter. By 
the end of the period under review, power quality 
meters were installed on almost all interconnectors 
in SAPP. Monitoring and measurement of power 

quality was being done. ZESCO, Eskom, SEC, 
EDM, NamPower, CEC, HCB and BPC also installed 
online central databases for power quality. SAPP 
members agreed to focus on identification of 
common power quality problems and associated 
mitigation measures. 
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MR THEMA MOLUBI  
BPC (Botswana)

Markets Sub Committee Chairperson

1. Introduction
It is my pleasure, on behalf of the Markets Sub 
Committee (MSC), to present the SAPP 2017 
annual report on SAPP trading issues. Following 
the introduction in 2016 of the Forward Physical 
Month Ahead Market (FPM-M), the Forward 
Physical Weekly Market (FPM-W) and the Intra 
Day Market (IDM) in addition to the Day Ahead 
Market (DAM), trading on the SAPP competitive 
market continued to increase in 2017 compared 
to previous years. This was made possible due to 
the concerted efforts of the SAPP Management 
Committee (MANCO), the SAPP Subcommittees 
and the SAPP CC during the year.  

During the year 2017-18, the main focus areas for 
the MSC in addition to continue increasing trade 
on the competitive market, was to ensure that the 
SAPP Market Trading Platform (SAPP-MTP) was 
available 24/7 in order to promote continuous 

trading through IDM, to develop roadmap for 
balancing market development, to ensure market 
fairness and transparency, to create a fund to 
unlock transmission projects, to prepare for energy 
exchange mechanisms between SAPP and EAPP, 
to come up with a way forward on handling intra-
control area energy imbalances, to protect and 
create value from the SAPP-MTP and to implement 
capacity building for traders and controllers in view 
of the new markets. 

I am happy to report that the above key activities for 
the SAPP market were successfully accomplished. 
The MSC also continued to work towards increasing 
trade volumes on the competitive markets resulting 
in significant increase in traded volumes recorded 
in 2017 when compared to previous years. It 
should also be noted that trading occurred in all 
the competitive markets namely the month ahead, 
week ahead, day ahead and intraday markets. 

Despite notable achievements recorded in the 
year 2017, a lot is still to be done to take the 
SAPP market to next levels. There was generally 
an increase in transmission access for the SAPP 
competitive markets largely due to the revised 
transmission capacity allocation criteria, the 
reduction in bilateral trade volumes and the 
relatively high rainfalls received in the region 
during 2016 and 2017. 

Below is a summary report on the SAPP trading 
issues covering the financial year 2017/18.

11. MARKETS SUB-COMMITTEE REPORT
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2. Optimization of Trade Opportunities 
through IDM Trading

The SAPP-MTP was facing downtime challenges 
due to power supply and internet interruptions. As 
such MSC proposed to host the SAPP-MTP on the 
cloud in order to improve on the system availability. 
A task team of information technology (IT) experts 
from the SAPP membership was established and 
it recommended hosting of the SAPP-MTP on the 
cloud. Implementation of this recommendation was 
started in December 2017 and the SAPP-MTP was 
moved to the cloud with effect from 21st February 
2018. As a result, system availability improved 
from an average of around 98% to 100%.

The SAPP CC is now available 24/7 for IDM 
operation. Most of the SAPP members are also 
available for IDM trading 24/7. IDM trades 
increased in 2017 when compared to 2016. 

3. Roadmap for the Development of a 
Balancing Market for SAPP

The MSC developed a roadmap for the development 
of a balancing market for SAPP. The roadmap 
involves a preparatory workshop that is meant to 
assist the MSC in the development of the terms of 
reference for the balancing market development, a 
study tour for the MSC on balancing development 
and operation and the actual development and 
implementation of the balancing market for 
SAPP. Funding was secured from the World 
and Government of Norway and Sida funding 

arrangements for these activities. Implementation 
of the activities is planned for 2018/19 financial 
year. 

4. Implementation of Revised Losses 
Charges for Wheeling Bilateral trades

Losses arising from wheeling bilateral trades were 
charged based on system average costs which 
were not market based. On the other hand losses 
arising from wheeling competitive market trades 
are charged based on the DAM market clearing 
prices (MCP) capped to a maximum of the daily 
average MCP. MSC recommended to use DAM 
MCPs as well for bilateral trades. However, in order 
to have predictability and also as a way to manage 
the impact to bilateral parties, it was proposed to 
use the previous calendar year average DAM prices 
for year 2017/18. 

This was approved by SAPP Management Committee 
(MANCO) and endorsed by SAPP Executive 
Committee (EXCO). The new methodology was 
implemented from the 1st of April 2017 and 
applied for year 2017/18. MANCO directed MSC 
to come up with bilateral wheeling losses charging 
methodology beyond March 2018.

MSC met on 25-26 April 2017 and proposed 
use of previous calendar year DAM MCP prices 
per time of use (Off Peak, Standard and Peak) 
and per season (Winter and Summer). This was 
approved by MANCO and endorsed by EXCO for 
implementation from the 1st of April 2018.  
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 MSC members pose for a photo during their meetings 
in April 2018

5. Handling of Intra Control Energy 
Imbalances

SAPP has a methodology for handling and charging 
energy imbalances among the three control areas, 
ESKOM. ZESA and ZESCO. However, there was 
no universal methodology for handling energy 
imbalances within a control area (intra control 
area). 

MSC and OSC met jointly on 24th April 2017 and 
proposed the following regarding handling of intra 
control area energy imbalances:

• A tolerance of ±5 MWh should be implemented 
for classification of inadvertent energy to 
be paid in kind and imbalance energy to be 
settled financially;

•  SAPP member utilities should continue 
applying bilateral agreements in handling 
intra-Control Area imbalance energy, where 
they exist and

•  Where agreements do not exist, energy 
imbalance rates would be calculated based 
on DAM MCP values and frequency graph like 
the existing procedure for inter-Control Area 
imbalance energy.

A procedure was developed to assist in the 
implementation of the above proposals. This was 
approved by MANCO and endorsed by EXCO for 
implementation.

 MSC and OSC members pose for a photo during their 
meetings in April 2018

6. Market Monitoring and Surveillance 
Arrangements for SAPP

SAPP has agreed to implement the following 
market monitoring and surveillance arrangements 
for SAPP. 
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It was also agreed to have a market monitoring 
and surveillance team comprising of initially, a 
Unit Implementer (an expert to be engaged for 
one year mainly to set up the market monitoring 
and surveillance systems at SAPP) and Market 
Surveillance (MS) Manager. In addition, an MS 
Officer and an MS Analyst were to be recruited 
on a need basis. Funding for the Unit Implementer 
was secured from the Government of Norway and 
Sida funding while SAPP will fund the MS Manager. 
Recruitment of the Unit Implementer and the MS 
Manager commenced in 2017 and the MS unit is 
expected to be functional in 2018/19 financial 
year. 

7. Establishment of a SAPP Transmission 
Infrastructure Financing Facility (TIFF)

The SAPP has noted that one of the main 
challenges in transmission projects implementation 
is difficulties in securing long term bilateral 
power purchase agreements (PPAs) that can be 
committed to fund transmission projects cash 

flow repayments. The SAPP market, though it has 
significant transactions, have not been used to 
anchor new transmissions investments as these 
are short term and also not easily predictable. 
The SAPP is therefore proposing to establish a 
Transmission Infrastructure Financing Facility (TIFF) 
that can be used to support cash flow repayments 
and therefore promote transmission investments. 

The objective of this activity is to develop a 
financing mechanism for transmission projects that 
does not solely rely on long term power purchase 
agreements but also utilizes the competitive 
markets. SAPP cooperating partners have been 
supporting the SAPP with grant funding mainly 
targeting project packaging. However, most of the 
transmission projects that received such funding 
have not been able to reach financial closure due 
to bankability issues and chief among them is lack 
of PPAs that are necessary to guarantee loan cash 
flow repayments. 

The process to select and engage a consultant 
to assist in the development and implementation 
of the TIFF started in 2017 and a consultant is 
expected to be engaged during the 2018/19 
financial year. The World Bank, Government of 
Norway and Sida are co-financing this activity.

8. Power Exchange Mechanisms between 
SAPP and East African Power Pool 
(EAPP)

A study on the impact of interconnecting SAPP 
and Eastern African Power Pool (EAPP) was 
initiated in 2017. The study looked at the impact 
of interconnecting the SAPP and the EAPP grids 
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and mainly focusing on governance, planning, 
operations and trading arrangements when the two 
power pools get interconnected. Two workshops 
involving SAPP and EAPP members were held 
in September 2017 and February 2018. MSC 
requested to be included in order to address 
issues to do with power exchange mechanisms 
that would need to be put in place for the smooth 
trading between the two power pools. MSC would 
participate in two workshops scheduled for May 
and August 2018. 

The interconnection of SAPP and EAPP is planned 
to be effected through interconnection of Tanzania 
and Kenya and also between interconnection of 
Zambia and Tanzania. The interconnection between 
Tanzania and Kenya is expected to be completed 
in 2019 with the interconnection between Zambia 
and Tanzania expected to be completed by 2021. It 
is therefore important that the gaps noted from the 
current SAPP-EAPP integration study are addressed 
before the two systems are interconnected.

9. Government of Norway and Sida 
Support Towards Development of the 
SAPP Competitive Market

Norway and Sweden have supported SAPP in 
developing the competitive electricity market in 
the SADC region since 2003 through the SAPP 
Coordination Centre (SAPP-CC). The first phase 
support focused on the development of the day-
ahead market trading platform and started in 2003 
to 2008. The second phase focused on DAM 
implementation and was from 2009 to end of 
2012. The third phase focused on the sustenance 
of the competitive market in the future and was 
covering the period from 2013 to 2015. This was 

extended during the 2016 SAPP-Sida-Norway 
Annual General meeting held in May 2016 for a 
period of one year to February 2017. 

The 2017 SAPP-Sida-Government of Norway 
annual general meeting (AGM) held on 23rd May 
2017 at World Bank Offices in Harare, Zimbabwe 
further extended the Government of Norway and 
Sida funding support facility to SAPP for a further 
two years to April 2019 at no additional cost 
in order to allow time for the operationalisation 
of the Multi Donor Trust Fund (MDTF) being 
spearheaded by the World Bank. The AGM meeting 
also discussed the power supply situation in the 
region, SAPP market performance and the progress 
report on the programme activities. Government of 
Norway and Sida are funding a number of activities 
that are meant to support the development and 
operations of the SAPP competitive market. 
 
10. SAPP Members Trading Participation 

Levels on the Competitive Market
Below is a summary of the average monthly 
number of participants in the competitive market 
for the year April 2017 to March 2018

Figure 10.1 Participants on the Competitive Market for 
the Year Ended 31st March 2018.
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On average, eight (8) members participated on the 
competitive markets each month in year 2017/18. 
This is the same figure recorded in the previous 
year 2016/17. However, LEC started trading on 
the market in 2017 for the first time. In terms 
of portfolios, on average ten (10) portfolios were 
active on the market in 2017/18 which is the 
same figure achieved in 2016/17.   

11. SAPP Market Performance Highlights

11.1 Bids Submitted and Matched on the 
Competitive Market

Figure 11.1 below gives a summary of the bids 
and offers submitted and matched volumes on the 
SAPP Competitive market in 2017-18.

Fig 11.1 Bids submitted and Matched on the SAPP 
Competitive Market for the Year Ended 31st March 

2018.

 

 

9% of power offered and 47% of power requested 
from the market was matched on the competitive 
market in 2017/18. 

Below is a summary of the demand and supply 
trend on the SAPP competitive market since the 
market was opened to date.

 

Demand for power on the SAPP competitive market 
was lower in 2017/18 when compared to power 
supply offered on the market during the same 
period. It can also be noted that there has been a 
general increase in supply of power over the years.  
This may be attributed to the excess power the 
region has been experiencing since 2016.
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11.2 Traded Volumes on the Competitive 
Market (FPM-M, FPM-W, DAM & IDM) 

Activity on the competitive market increased in 
2017/18 where a total of 2,123,670.5 MWh was 
traded compared to 1,023,056.0 MWh traded 
in 2016/17. Figure 11.2 below gives monthly 
traded volumes on the SAPP competitive market 
in 2017/18. Also included is the distribution of 
trades by market and the total traded volumes on 
the market since the market was opened in 2009 
to date.

Note that 9% of power offered and 47% of power 
requested from the market was traded on the 
competitive market in 2017/18. 

Figure 11.2 Total Energy Traded on FPM-M, FPM-W, 
DAM and IDM for the Year Ended 31st March 2018.

 
Share of Total Energy Traded on FPM-M, FPM-W, 
DAM and IDM for the Year Ended 31st March 2017.
 

72% of the total energy traded on the SAPP 
competitive market was traded through DAM and 
the remainder was FPM-W (9%), FPM-M (4%) and 
IDM (15%). 

Energy Traded on the SAPP Competitive Market 
from 2009/10 to 2017/18. 

 

11.3. Impact of Transmission constraints on 
         the Competitive Market 2017/18. 
1% of the energy that was matched in FPM-M, 
FPM-W, DAM and IDM in 2017/18 could not be 
traded due to transmission constraints. This was 
significantly lower than the 66% recorded in the 
previous year 2016/17, signifying an improvement 
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in transmission access for the competitive market 
in 2017/18. Figure 11.3 gives the impact of 
transmission constraints in 2017/18, 2016/17 
and 2015/16.

Figure 11.3 Impact of Transmission Constraints in 
2015/16, 2016/17 and 2017/18.

 
Graph below shows detailed comparisons of 
the energy matched but not traded as a result 
of transmission constraints from 2015/16 to 
2017/18.
 
From above graph, the energy that was matched 
but not traded due to transmission constraints 
was much lower in 2017/18 when compared to 
2016/17.

11.4  Competitive Market Share 
Traded volumes on the bilateral market have been 
generally going down from 2013 to 2018. On the 
other hand, the competitive market traded volumes 
have been going up from 2013 through to 2018. 
Below is a summary of the traded volumes on 
the bilateral market for 2015/16, 2016/17 and 
2017/18. Also shown is the competitive market 
share against total traded volumes for 2017/18. 

Figure 11.4 Bilateral Traded Volumes in 2015/16 and 
2016/17

 
Note that bilateral traded volumes decreased 
significantly from 2016/17 through to 2017/18.
 
Competitive Market Share for the Year Ended 31st 
March 2017.

 

Monthly Market Share for the Competitive Market 
for the Year Ended 31st March 2018.

Highest competitive market share achieved in 
a month in 2017/18 was 33.9% which was 
achieved in August 2017. Average competitive 
market share in year 2017/18 was around 23.5% 
which was higher than the 11.3% recorded in 
2015/16. Below is a comparison of the month on 
month market shares in 2015/16 to 2017/18. 
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Competitive Market and Bilateral market share 
(2012/13 to 2017/18)
 

11.5 Market Clearing Prices
Figures 11.5.1, 11.5.2 and 11.5.3 below give a 
summary of the average market clearing prices for 
FPM-M, FPM-W and DAM respectively for the year 
2017/18. 

Figure 9.5.1 Market Clearing Prices (MCP) on the 
FPM-M Market for the Year 2017/18

 
In 2017/18, the yearly average FPM-M market 
clearing price for Off peak periods was 3.36USc/
KWh compared to 4.63USc/KWh recorded in 
2016/17. The average yearly Non Off Peak 
periods for 2017/18 was USc6.62/KWh, down 
from USc11.63/KWh recorded in 2016/17.

Figure 11.5.2 below gives the market clearing 
prices for the FPM-W market for year 2017/18. The 
average yearly FPM-W market clearing prices was 
2.83USc/KWh for the Off Peak periods, 5.82USc/
KWh for the Standard periods and 9.31USc/KWh 
for the Peak periods.
The average yearly FPM-W market clearing prices 
for 2016/17 on the hand were 4.48USc/KWh 
for the Off Peak periods, 9.36USc/KWh for the 
Standard periods and 13.68USc/KWh for the Peak 
periods.



432018 ANNUAL REPORT

Figure 11.5.2 Market Clearing Prices (MCP) on the 
FPM-W Market for Year 2017/18

 

Figure 11.5.3 Market Clearing Prices (MCP) on the 
DAM Market for Year 2017/18

 
DAM average market clearing price during the 
period 2017/18 was USc4.83/KWh, with a 
minimum monthly average MCP of USc3.83/KWh 
and a maximum monthly average of USc5.53/
KWh.  
 

Average monthly DAM market clearing prices 
were generally lower in 2017/18 when compared 
to 2016/17. In 2017/18, the yearly average 
DAM market clearing price was 4.83USc/KWh 
when compared to the USc7.23/KWh recorded in 
2016/17. Below is the trend of the average yearly 
DAM market clearing prices on the competitive 
market since market opening to date.
 

Average Monthly DAM Market Clearing Prices 
(MCPs) per time of use for 2017/18 .
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The yearly average DAM market clearing prices 
for the peak, standard and off-peak periods for 
2017/18 were USc7.6/KWh, USc6.31/KWh and 
USc2.85/KWh respectively. 

The IDM yearly average market clearing price for 
the peak period was USc7.72/KWh, USc6.09/
KWh  for the standard time and USc2.84/KWh for 
the off peak period. 

 

11.6 Competitive Market Revenues
A total of USD106.55 million was exchanged on 
the market in 2017/18 compared to USD75.8 
million exchanged in 2016/17. A total of USD 
95,020,954 or 88.35% of the revenues from the 
market was exchanged between buyers and sellers 

while a total of USD 12,531,508.92 or 11.65% 
was collected as congestion income, wheeling, 
losses and administration fees in 2017/18. In 
comparison, in 2016/17 a total of USD55,640,362 
was exchanged between buyers and sellers on the 
market for the cost of energy traded while a total 
of USD20,198,966 was collected as congestion 
income, wheeling, losses and administration fees. 
Below is the distribution of the total revenues 
exchanged on the SAPP competitive markets in 
2017/18.
 

The Distribution of market revenues from 2014/15 
to 2017/18 is shown by the figure below. 
 
12. Market Surveillance 
Two market surveillance reports were issued during 
the year 2017/18. The following observations 
were noted in the reports for the period from 1st 
April 2017 to 31st March 2018.

• No market abuse was recorded during the 
above period

• System interruptions were experienced 
mainly as a result of power outages and 
loss of internet. With IDM operating 24/7, 
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the need for system availability is critical. 
The migration of the SAPP-MTP to the cloud 
in February 2018 improved the SAPP-MTP 
availability.

•  Market Operator prevented some participants 
from trading as a financial settlement risk 
mitigation measure as the participants did not 
guarantee the market operator the timeline 
when funds were to be deposited to cover 
trades. 

•  Implementation of the revised market rules 
assisted in improving the financial security 
requirements measures as a way to minimize 
financial settlement risks. 

•  In view of increased trade volumes, the need 
for long term market surveillance was noted 
and it was agreed that the SAPP should 
prioritize putting in place long term market 
surveillance arrangements in 2018.

 
13. SAPP Traders and Controllers Forum
The 14th SAPP Energy traders and System 
Controllers Forum was held from 25-26 October 
2016 in Gaborone, Botswana. Traders and 
Controllers shared various experiences and 
challenges in electricity trading and power system 
control in SAPP. They also had an opportunity to 
interact in person thereby providing an opportunity 
for team-building. They also had an opportunity 
to familiarize with the Botswana power network 
at the BPC National Control Centre in Gaborone, 
Botswana.

 

Participants at the 14th SAPP Energy Traders and 
System Controllers Forum in Gaborone, Botswana.

14. Capacity Building

14.1  SAPP MTP Controllers Certification 
        Training
One certification training for controllers on the 
SAPP Market Trading Platform bidding strategies 
were held during the year, one on 22-24 August 
2017 in Johannesburg, South Africa. The training 
covered the following: 

• Operation of the day ahead market (DAM)
•  Operation of the intraday market (IDM) 
•  Operation of the forward physical markets 

(month and week ahead markets) – FPM-M 
and FPM-W 

•  Operation of the bilateral wheeling and 
losses settlement modules 
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The main focus of the training was to familiarize 
the SAPP system controllers on the operation of 
the SAPP-MTP and especially the involvement 
of system controllers in transmission capacity 
management, scheduling, energy imbalance 
calculations among others. The workshop was 
attended by two system controllers from all the 
SAPP members.

15. Acknowledgements
I would like to express my sincere gratitude to 
the MSC, SAPP traders, the SAPP CC team and 
the entire SAPP whose efforts during the year 
contributed significantly to the good performance 
recorded on the competitive market during the 
year. 

Our cooperating partners and in particular, the 
Government of Norway and Sida, the World Bank, 
etc whose financial support to the various activities 
including the various capacity building programs, is 
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MR. CHRISPEN MASEVA
Chief Environmental Planner (ZESA) Zimbabwe

Environmental Sub-Committee Chairperson.

1. Introduction
The Southern African Power Pool is committed 
to providing clean, safe, reliable and affordable 
electricity. As a regional organization, we are 
responding to the outlook for the immediate 
future, which is characterized by an increasing 
growth in demand for combating climate change 
through energy efficiency, development of clean 
sources of energy and environmental protection. 
We aim to promote environmentally sustainable 
livelihoods and we are committed to reduction of 
environmental impact of all our activities through 
the promotion of clean energy sources, energy 
efficiency, pollution prevention, best waste 
management practices and promotion of public 
awareness on environmental issues. 

More than just environment, we regard 
sustainability as about taking a longer-term view 
and making efficient business decisions that 
create value to our customers, stakeholders and 
community at large.

The year under review witnessed some good 
progress in Environmental Management at SAPP 
utilities across the region. We continue to urge 
utilities to embark on projects aimed at new 
carbon reducing technologies that will result in the 
reduction of greenhouse gas emissions that lead 
to climate change. The SAPP will also continue 
to raise environmental sustainability through 
publications such as the quarterly Sustainable 
Development Bulletin. 

2. Environmental Status of SAPP   
    Transmission Projects
Companies across the world are increasingly held 
accountable for the impact of their decisions and 
activities on the environment and the SAPP utilities 
are no exception. All SAPP member states have 
legislation that requires Environmental and Social 
Impact Assessments (ESIA) to be undertaken 
before the projects are implemented. This will 
expose negative impacts likely to emanate from 
such activities and as such, measures are put 

12. ENVIRONMENTAL SUB-COMMITTEE



48 “Enhancing regional electricity trading for regional integration and mitigation of climate change”

in place to mitigate and manage such negative 
impacts through Environmental Management Plans. 
This tool is particularly relevant where project 
loans are required from international financial 
institutions that apply policies, standards and 
guidelines to safeguard environmental and social 
sustainability. The SAPP has an Environmental and 
Social Management Framework (ESMF) tool that 
guides all project proponents on steps to be taken 
before the implementation of any project in the 
bid to minimize environmental and social impacts 
emanating from such projects. The environmental 
statuses of the SAPP projects have been reported 
under the Planning Sub-Committee report in this 
issue.

3. Climate Change
Climate Change continues to be a threat to all 
forms of livelihoods and economic activities in the 
world.  This generally refers to on-going trend of 
changes in the earth’s general weather conditions 
as a result of an average rise in the temperature 
of the earth’s surface often referred as global 
warming. This rise in the global temperature 
is due, primarily to increased concentration of 
gases known as greenhouse gases that are 
emitted by human activities. The SAPP region is 
extremely vulnerable and exposed to the impacts 
of weather changes, climate variability and long 
term climate change due to its socio-economic and 
environmental context.

3.1 Climate Change Adaptation Strategy for 
SAPP update

The ESC updated a Climate Change Mitigation 
and Adaptation Strategy for the SAPP in face 
of the adverse effects climate change is having 
on most sectors of the economy including 
energy. The SAPP region is vulnerable to these 
impacts because of high poverty levels and lack 
of technology to counter the adverse impacts. 
Highlights of the strategies include (a) focusing 
more on mini-hydro power plants, (b) ensuring 
diversified generation mix with the aim of lowering 
carbon emitting technologies, (c) identifying 
energy efficient technologies to reduce demand 
and greenhouse gas emissions, (d) identifying and 
exploring climate change related opportunities, 
e.g. Clean Development Mechanisms (CDM) and 
Global Environmental Facility (GEF) for provision 
of funding, (e) capacity building and technology 
transfer. (f) short-term adaptation measures such 
the consideration of dry -cooling at new power 
stations.

3.2 Climate Change Resilient study for the 
SAPP

The Environmental Sub Committees developed 
Terms of Reference for a study on Vulnerability, 
Impacts of Climate Change and Adaptation 
options for the Region. These terms of reference 
were submitted to various potential financial 
organizations for possible funding. The study 
proposal is aimed at assessing the impacts of 
weather changes, climate variability, extreme 
weather events and long-term climate change 
impacts on the Region. 
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3.3 Earth Hour
On Saturday, 24 March 2018, SAPP member states 
joined the rest of the world when they switched 
off their lights for Earth Hour from 20:30 to 21:30 
on Saturday night together saving over 420 MW.
Earth Hour is a global call for the protection of 
the planet and for people to take a stand against 
climate change. Each year on the last Saturday 
in March, SAPP join thousands of people around 
the globe and use their collective voice to inspire, 
motivate and lead the charge on their hopes, 
dreams and concerns about the planet.

The SAPP encourages people to act beyond this 
one hour and to make energy efficiency and 
environmental conservation part of their daily 
lifestyles.

 

Eswatini Electricity Company(EEC) commemorating 
Earth Hour 2018

4. PCB Phase-out in the SAPP
The SAPP received financial assistance from the 
United Nations Environmental Programme (UNEP) 
for the implementation of the PCB Phase-out project 
in the SADC region through Africa Institute for 
Environmentally Sound Management of Hazardous 
and Other Wastes. The project would ensure the 
phasing out PCBs from the SADC region by 2025 
as per the Stockholm Convention on Persistent 
Organic Pollutants (POPs) requirement. 

A total amount of USD 150, 000 has been set 
aside for capacity building and awareness on the 
handling and management of PCBs. An additional 
amount of USD 120,000 has been ear-marked 
for Operator Training on management of in-use 
transformers. The target is to train at least 60 
responsible persons on PCB management in SAPP 
utilities.

Meanwhile a number of SAPP utilities are taking 
own initiative to phase out PCBs from their own 
utilities. 

 5. Sustainable Development 
    Bulletin for the Southern African   
    Power Pool
As part of Environmental awareness, the 
Environmental Sub-Committee continues to 
publish the Sustainable Development quarterly 
bulletin on various environmental issues. The 
bulletin is circulated to a regional - wide audience 
of stakeholders and is also available on the SAPP 
website.
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6. Environmental Management 
    Systems 
The SAPP Environmental Sub-Committee adopted 
an Environmental Management System based on 
ISO 14001:2015. This specifies the requirements 
for an environmental management system that an 
organization can use to enhance its environmental 
performance. ISO 14001:2015 is intended for 
use by an organization seeking to manage its 
environmental responsibilities in a systematic 
manner that contributes to the environmental pillar 
of sustainability.

While two utilities in the region currently are ISO 
14001 certified, it is worth noting that all utilities 
are implementing some elements of Environmental 
Management Systems and moving towards ISO 
conformation. The target is for all utilities to have 
conformed to ISO 140001:2015 by 2020.

7.  Environmental Risk Management
The Environmental Sub-Committee developed 
Environmental Risk Management Matrix and based 
on COSO Risk Management Framework ISO 31 
000 standard. The Framework is expected to help 
utilities design and implement internal control in 
light of many changes in business and operating 
environments. 

8. Capacity Building
During the year under review, members of the 
Environmental Sub-Committee received training 
The Environmental Sub-Committee received 

training on Rapid Impact Assessment Matrix 
(RIAM). The training was conducted with financial 
support from the Government of Norway as part 
of the SAPP Pool Plan update support. The to0l 
enables for high level screening of power projects 
and line routing that minimizes impact to the 
environment.
 
9. Acknowledgement
I would like to extent my gratitude to all members 
of the Environmental Sub-Committee for the hard 
work executed throughout the year. May I also take 
this opportunity to thank the Environmental Officer, 
Johnson Maviya for his efforts in co-coordinating 
all issues on Environmental Management within 
the SAPP and the SAPP Management Committee 
(MANCO) and the SAPP Executive Committee 
(EXCO) for putting environmental issues at the 
fore of the SAPP operations. Finally, I would remind 
the SAPP region to commemorate the following 
important days of the year observed worldwide in 
order to highlight ways to protect the environment:

• World Wetlands Day – 2nd February
•  World Water Day – 22nd March
•  Zero Emissions Day – 18 September
•  Sustainability Day – 4th Wednesday of 

October
•  International Day of Climate Action – 24 

October
•  World Environment Day – 5 June

I urge all utilities to commemorate the above days 
in order to raise environmental at our utilities. 
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Members of the Environmental Sub-Committee
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Environmental Sub-Committee Chairperson  
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15. SAPP CO-ORDINATION CENTRE REPORT

 

                 

STEPHEN DIHWA
SAPP Coordination Centre Manager

1. Introduction
In the year under review from 1 April 2017 to 31 
March 2018, the SAPP Coordination Centre (SAPP-
CC) coordinated and facilitated various SAPP 
activities and partcipated in forums representing 
SAPP.

2. Focus Areas
The SAPP Coordination Centre contiues to provide 
support to the member utilities in the areas of 
planning, operations, markets, environment and 
projects preparation activities.

3.Meetings and Workshops 

3.1 Transmission and Distribution 
Investments Workshop

The SAPP Chief Engineer attended a workshop 
on “Alignment of Electricity Transmission and 
Distribution (T&D) Investment with a 2-Degree 
Pathway”, which was sponsored and hosted by 
the World Resources Institute (WRI). The workshop 
took place in Washington DC, USA. 

The purpose of the workshop was to bring 
together technical experts from across the globe 
who reviewed and gathered feedback on a draft 
methodology and discussed what alignment of 
T&D investments means in the context of climate 
change mitigation.

3.2 IRENA - SACREEE Workshop
IRENA and Southern African Centre for Renewable 
Energy and Energy Efficiency (SACREEE) jointly 
hosted a two-day workshop from 24 to 25 April 
2017 in Windhoek, Namibia. The workshop 
brought together senior officials of the Ministries 
responsible for Energy, utilities, regulatory bodies, 
the SAPP and research centers from the SADC 
region. The workshop helped to identify updates 
to the solar and wind zones under the Africa Clean 
Energy Corridor and incorporate new developments 
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on the ground. Furthermore, the workshop 
presented information on earmarked project sites 
whose financial viability will be assessed in 
order to guide investments in renewable energy. 
The SAPP was represented by the Environmental 
Officer, Johnson Maviya who made a presentation 
on “Meeting Growing Demands through Southern 
African Regional Integration”. 
 
3.3 Africa Utility Week
The 2017 Africa Utility week was held on 15-
18 May 2017 in Cape Town, South Africa. The 
conference covered several areas that include 
renewable energy development and integration, 
mini grids, generation and transmission 
infrastructure development etc. The conference 
was attended by more than 7,000 delegates, more 
than 300 exhibitors, 284 expert speakers and 66 
utilities from 20 African countries. Several SAPP 
utilities were also in attendance. The SAPP CC was 
represented by the Acting Centre Manager, the 
Chief Market Analyst and the Transaction Advisor.

3.4 Africa Energy Forum
The Africa Energy Forum was held in Copenhagen, 
Denmark from 6 to 9 June 2017 and was attended 
by regulators, government representatives and 
power utilities executives. The SAPP presented the 
status of the power generation and transmission 
projects and the progress on the competitive 
electricity Market.
   
  

3.5 SAPP Human Resources Working Group 
Meeting

The SAPP Human Resources Working Group met 
in Harare, Zimbabwe in April 2017 to update 
the various policies and procedures for SAPP 
Coordination Centre. Another meeting was held in 
Luanda, Angola, from 15 to 16 November 2017.

3.6 SAPP Finance Working Group Meeting
The SAPP Finance Working Group met in Harare, 
Zimbabwe on 6 July 2017. The main objective of 
the meeting was to review the audited financial 
statements for SAPP as well as to review the 
report to management which was issued by the 
external auditors.

The Working Group also met on 14 December 
2017 in Johannesburg, South Africa to review 
the year 2018/19 budget for SAPP. The Working 
Group also reviewed the external audit compliance 
register.

3.7 SAPP Legal Working Group

The SAPP Legal Working Group completed the 
review of the SAPP CC Constitution and it was 
adopted by the SAPP Executive Committee. The 
review of other governing documents invcluding the 
SAPP Inter Utility Memorandum of Understanding 
is still in progress.
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3.8 RNT Executive Management Visit to 
SAPP Coordination Centre

The Chief Executive Officer of RNT of Angola and 
his Management Team visited SAPP to familiarize 
with the operations of SAPP and the SAPP 
electricity market trading arrangements during the 
year.

4. Technical Cooperation
SAPP has successfully secured funding from 
various International Coorperating Partners for 
capacity builing, exchange visits and project 
preparation.

4.1 Zambia Tanzania Kenya Interconnector 
Project

The Nile Equatorial Lakes Subsidiary Action 
Program (NELSAP) Coordination Unit convened a 
workshop meeting from 21 to 23 August 2017 
in Arusha, Tanzania, on the Tanzania - Zambia 
interconnection project.  Consultants presented 
the draft final feasibility study report and the 
environmental and social impact assessment 
report of the project. The meeting was attended by 
development partners and economic communities 
including the Government of Norway, EU, AfDB, 
World Bank, KfW, NEPAD and COMESA. It was 
also attended by power utilities (ZESCO and 
TANESCO), power pools (SAPP and EAPP) and 
government officials from Zambia and Tanzania. 
The final feasibility and impact assessment reports 
were delivered in November 2017.

5. Support from Cooperating Partners 

5.1 SAPP- Sida - Government of Norway 
The Goverments of Norway and Sweden continued 
to render technical assistance to SAPP, including 
project preparation activities.

5.2 Mid Term Review for SAPP AREP 
Program 

The World Bank and Sida met and presented the 
progress of the SAPP AREP Program to the SAPP 
Executive Committee in Lilongwe, Malawi. The 
presentation focused on:

• Update on the progress of the AREP and 
seeking feedback of future recommendations

•  The effectiveness of the SAPP PAU 
•  How SAPP can move from project 

development to implementation 

5.3 SAPP – European Union - DBSA Support 
SAPP continued to receive support for project 
prepartion. Support was received for the following 
projects:

• Mozambique – Zimbabwe – South Africa 
Interconnector (MOZISA)

•  Botswana – South Africa Interconnector    
(BOSA)

•  Angola – Namibia Interconnector    (ANNA) 
with co-funding from Government of Norway 
and SIda
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5.4 AfDB Infrastructure Consortium for 
Africa (ICA) Conference, Rome, Italy

The 13th annual meeting of the Infrastructure 
Consortium for Africa (ICA) was jointly organized 
by the African Development Bank (AfDB) and 
the Government of Italy and was held in Rome 
from 19 to 20 October 2017. The theme for the 
conference meeting was “Towards the Promotion 
of Smart and Integrated Infrastructure for Africa: 
An agenda for Digitalization, Decarbonisation and 
Mobility.” African Regional Economic Communities 
(RECs), specialized institutions such as power 
pools, and the Corridor Management Institutions 

were identified as key stakeholders of ICA and 
were invited to this conference meeting. 

Papers on promoting smart infrastructure in Africa, 
digitisation technology, decarbonisation of energy, 
and world energy outlook were presented. ICA also 
presented its 2016 annual report on infrastructure 
financing trends in Africa and findings of the 
performance of African power pools. The 
Government of Italy pledged continued support for 
development of infrastructure in Africa. The SAPP 
was represented by the Operations Engineer.

Some delegates at the ICA Conference Meeting in Rome
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6. The SAPP Project Advisory Unit Actiities

The SAPP PAU is advancing a number of generation 
and transmission projects. The PAU is actively 
involved in the following projects:

• Luapula Hydro Electric Scheme Project (DRC, 
Zambia)

•  Mpanda Nkuwa Generation Project and STE 
(Mozambique)

•  Kolwezi – Solwezi Transmission Interconnector 
(DRC, Zambia)

•  Mozambique – Zambia Interconnector

The PAU’s mandate and scope of work includes 
but is not limited to the following:

•  Implementing agent
•  Project Management
•  Legal structuring
•  Financial Structuring

7. Staff Issues
The SAPP Coordination Centre Manager, Eng. 
Stephen Dihwa joined SAPP on 1 December 
2017. He was Principal Director in the Ministry 
of Energy and Power Development in Zimbabwe 

before coming to SAPP and has several years of 
experience in SAPP member utilities. The SAPP 
recruited Eng. Brian Dlamini to fill the vacant 
position of the Planning Engineer. He joined the 
SAPP on 1 November 2017 and he was previously 
working for Eswatini Electricity Company.

The Financial Management Specialist at the SAPP 
PAU resigned at the end of January 2018.

8. Acknowledgement  
I would like to take this opportunity to thank 
members of staff, the SAPP CC Board and 
cooperating partners for their contributions during 
the year. 

 

ENG. STEPHEN DIHWA
SAPP Coordination Centre Manager
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16. SAPP UTILITY GENERAL STATISTICS 2017/2018
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Angola RNT 3129 2500 1869 2138 3% 7922 -5.10%

Botswana BPC 927 459 610 698 0% 3118 0.30%

DRC SNEL 2457 1076 1376 1574 0% 6886

ESWATINI EEC 70 55 232 265 2.20% 1058 -2.40%

Lesotho LEC 74 70 150 172 -7% 488 6.20%

Malawi ESCOM 352 351 326 373 -2% 1476 2.00%

Mozambique EDM/HCB/MOTRACO 2724 2279 1850 2116 3% 2380 13.00%

Namibia NamPower 538 354 647 740 2.84% 3648 1.20%

South Africa ESKOM 50774 48463 38897 44127 -7% 214121 -4.60%

Tanzania TANESCO 1366 823 1051.27 1202 2% 5948.47 7.08%

Zambia ZESCO/CEC/LHPC 2734 2734 2194 2510 3% 11931 2.00%

Zimbabwe ZESA 2045 1555 1615 1847 -9% 7 367 4.50%
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 182,562 700 197 840.87 0.00 6 124.767 47 7 11

58900 563 332 294.39 0.73 11 31.5 32 5.2 5.1

374400 2398 2053 0.00 0.00 6 90 106 6.78 10.533

1010780 3244 16636 68.23 280.33 6.4 n/a 37

3449 910 2672 1756.02 0.00 3.2 310 41 6 53

5976557 47658 233503 2.94 4168.78 0.1 13468.8 16.8 2.9 -66.9

2013839 6469 9010 0.00 0.00 6.02 631.73 107 6 -19.1

831362 6791 14394 360.63 7.92 6.23 886 444 1.26 46

579006 5773 8513 1177.86 355.04 4 469 157 -34 -120
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Year / Utility BPC EDM RNT ESCOM Eskom LEC NamPower EEC SNEL TANESCO ZESA ZESCO

2018  683  2,038 1872  529  36,113  168  733  257  1,727  1,680  2,083  3,177 

2019  712  2,155 2067  621  37,572  172  758  265  1,832  1,930  2,130  3,300 

2020  824  2,255 2282  719  38,667  178  786  273  1,921  2,190  2,247  3,432 

2021  855  2,350 2486  795  39,893  183  816  283  2,024  2,430  2,381  3,573 

2022  914  2,484 2702  878  41,040  188  842  294  2,117  2,690  2,601  3,724 

2023  942  2,608 2936  967  42,102  196  869  306  2,212  2,980  2,752  3,886 

2024  971  2,679 3170  1,064  43,269  201  899  317  2,358  3,300  2,947  4,060 

2025  1,057  2,752 3412  1,169  44,535  204  931  329  2,465  3,660  3,077  4,247 

SAPP UTILITY PEAK DEMAND (MW) FORECAST 2018 - 2025

Year / Utility BPC EDM RNT ESCOM Eskom LEC NamPower EEC SNEL TANESCO ZESA ZESCO

2018  4,479  14,305  10,661  2,944  237,263  740  4,780  1,283  10,592  10,320  10,424  19,117 

2019  4,669  15,025  11,768  3,459  246,845  774  4,930  1,355  10,910  11,810  10,417  19,944 

2020  5,406  15,775  12,994  3,994  254,042  819  5,100  1,444  11,445  13,430  10,837  20,721 

2021  5,609  16,342  14,152  4,426  262,094  864  5,288  1,538  12,057  14,890  11,218  21,185 

2022  5,996  17,177  15,386  4,897  269,634  914  5,443  1,632  12,609  16,490  11,988  22,021 

2023  6,180  17,947  16,718  5,412  276,608  962  5,606  1,724  13,174  18,270  12,517  22,894 

2024  6,370  18,409  18,051  5,973  284,279  1,015  5,793  1,803  14,046  20,230  12,982  23,715 

2025  6,930  18,843  19,427  6,586  292,593  1,069  5,991  1,863  14,684  22,440  13,611  24,667 

SAPP UTILITY ENERGY DEMAND (GWH) FORECAST 2018 - 2025
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17. HIGHLIGHTS 2017/18
 
The SAPP main achievements for the fiscal period 
under consideration were as follows:

1.SAPP Strategic Direction
The SAPP Executive Committee held a strategic 
workshop focusing on effective project 
implementation, communication strategy and how 
to develop strategies for the utility of the future.

2. Generation Capacity Expansion
SAPP commissioned new generation capacity as 
indicated below:

• A total capacity equivalent to 3,008 MW was 
commissioned in 2017 and thus increased the 
region’s installed capacity to 67.19GW. The 
projects were commissioned by both Public 
utilities and Independent Power Producers 
(IPPs)

•  Renewables contributed 19% of new 
generation capacity in the period under 
review.

3.Growth in Demand
Electricity demand increased by 2.9 % in the period 
under review to a total of 50,741 MW. 

4.The SAPP Pool Plan
• The SAPP Pool Plan was completed and 

adopted by the SAPP Executive Committee.
•  It is USD 34 billion cheaper over a 40-year 

period to go for the regional integrated 
approach than pursuing national plans. 
The projects of regional significance were 
identified.

5. Competitive Market in SAPP
• A total of 2,154 GWh was matched and 

2,124 MWh or 99% being traded on the 
market in 2017/18. The traded amount in 
the previous year represented 34%.

• 	USD	 106.6	 million	 exchanged	 via	 the	
competitive market in the current year 
compared to USD75.6 million in the previous 
year.

6. Projects Preparation
SAPP continued discussions with various 
partners to get assistance to fulfil the vision 
of SAPP. Discussions were around capacity 
building, technical assistance and securing project 
preparatory funding.

7. Stakeholder Engagement
SAPP continues to engage with key stakeholders 
that includes industry, regulators, governments 
and the International Cooperating Partners 
(ICPs). Through various forums, SAPP has been 
presenting its achievements and highlighting areas 
of improvement.

8.Staff Issues
Engineer Stephen Dihwa joined SAPP as the 
Coordination Centre Manager with effect from 1 
December 2017.

Engineer Brian Dlamini joined SAPP as the Planning 
Engineer with effect from 1 November 2017.
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SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL         
   

           
NATURE OF BUSINESS          
The main objective of the Organisation is to co-ordinate the planning and development of electricity 
interconnections between members’ respective networks and to expand the Interconnected Power System 
and electricity trading in the region.          
 
          
SAPP COORDINATION CENTRE BOARD MEMBERS:       

             

Mr. M. Seitlheko

(Coordination Centre Board Chairman)   (Lesotho Electricity Company)   

Mr. S. Dihwa* (Coordination Centre Manager)        

Mr. Pego Mosalakatane     (Botswana Power Company)  

Mr. Aderito Sousa     (Electricidade de Mozambique)   

Mr. Jerford Banda     (Electricity Supply Corporation of Malawi) 

Mr. Segomoco Scheppers    (Eskom)    

Mr. Adriano Jonas     (Hidroelectrica de Cahora Bassa) 

Mr. Friday Chibwe     (Lunsemfwa Hydro Power Company)  

Mr. Virgilio Laisse     (Mozambique Transmission Company)  

Mr. Mbuere ua Mbuere      (NamPower)    

Mr. Jose Marinho      (Rede Nacioal de Transporte de Electricidade)  

Mr. Ernest Mkhonta     (Swaziland Electricity Company) 

Mr. Pembele Kimbi     (Societe Nationale d’Electricidade)   

Mr. Kahitwa Bishaija     (Tanzania Electricity Supply Company)   

Mr. Julian Chinembiri     (Zimbabwe Electricity Supply Authority)  

Mr. Changallah Nswana    (Zambia Electricity Supply Company)

* Executive Director (from 1 December 2017)



672018 ANNUAL REPORT

REGISTERED OFFICE:   
24 Golden Stairs Road   
Emerald Hill   
Harare, Zimbabwe   
   
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR:   
PricewaterhouseCoopers     
Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe)   
Building Number 4   
Arundel Office Park, Norfolk Road   
Mount Pleasant   
Harare, Zimbabwe   
   
PRINCIPAL BANKER:   
Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited   
Plot 50672, Off Samora Machel Drive   
Fairground Office Park   
Gaborone, Botswana   

INDEX TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018   
        

            Page 

Directors’ Statement Of Responsibility        3 

Independent Auditor’s Report         4 - 5 

Statement Of Financial Position        6 

Statement Of Income And Expenditure        7 

Statement Of Changes In Members’ Funds       8 

Statement Of Cash Flows         9 

Notes To The Financial Statements        10 - 25 

           

The financial statements have been presented in the United States of America dollar (“US$”).



68 “Enhancing regional electricity trading for regional integration and mitigation of climate change”

STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS RESPONSIBILITY

to the members of

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL

It is the Directors’ responsibility to ensure that the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs 
of the Organisation. The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the 
financial statements.
 The Directors have assessed the ability of the Organisation to continue operating as a going 
concern and believe that thepreparation of these financial statements on a going concern basis is still 
appropriate. However, the Directors believe that underthe current economic environment a continuous 
assessment of the ability of the Organisation to continue to operate as going concern will need to 
be performed to determine the continued appropriateness of the going concern assumption that has 
beenapplied in the preparation of these financial statements.
 The statements set out in this report have been prepared by management in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The statements are based on appropriate accounting 
policies which are supported by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates. 
 The Organisation’s internal and accounting control systems are designed to provide reasonable 
assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the financial statements and to adequately safeguard, 
verify and maintain accountability of its assets. Such controls are based on established written policies 
and procedures and all employees are required to maintain the highest ethical standards in ensuring that 
the entity’s business practices are conducted in a manner which in all reasonable circumstances is above 
reproach. Issues that came to the attention of the Directors have been addressed and the Directors 
confirm that the system of internal and accounting control is operating in a satisfactory manner.  
 In light of the current financial position, the Directors are satisfied that the Organisation is a going 
concern and has continued to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.
 The Organisation’s financial statements which are set out below on pages 6 to 27 were, in 
accordance with their responsibilities approved by the Directors on 05 September 2018 and are signed on 
its behalf by:             
            
             
         Mr M. Seitlheko                Mr S. Dihwa    
Co-ordination Centre Board Chairperson    Co-ordination Centre Manager
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

to the members of

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL

Report on the audit of the financial statements           
     
Our opinion            
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Southern African Power Pool as at 31 March 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for 
the year then endedin accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.    
          
What we have audited
SAPP’s financial statements set out on pages 6 to 27 comprise:

•  the statement of financial position as at 31 March 2018;
• the statement of income and expenditure for the year then ended;
• the statement of changes in members’ funds for the year then ended;
• the statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and
• the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting policies. 

      
Basis for opinion           
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit 
of the financial statements section of our report.      
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
           
Independence            
We are independent of the Organisation in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants’ Code ofEthics for Professional Accountants (“IESBA Code”). We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code.        
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Other information            
The Members are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the Executive 
Committee’s Report, Management Committee’s Report, Planning Sub - Committee’s Report, Operating 
Sub - Committee’s Report, Markets Sub - Committee’s Report, Environmental Sub - Committee’s Report, 
and the Coordination Centre Report, which we obtained prior to the date of this auditor’s report. Other 
information does not include financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.    
          
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not 
express an audit opinionor any form of assurance conclusion thereon.  
    
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we obtained prior to the 
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.    
 
Responsibilities of the Board of Directors for the financial statements
The Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards  and for such internal control as the Board 
of Directors determine is necessary to  enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Directors is responsible for assessing the Organisation’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the Executive Committee, who have delegated responsibility 
of financial statements to the Board of Directors, either intend to liquidate the Organisation or to cease 
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements    
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee 
that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
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exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of these financial  statements.  

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not 
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, 
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override 
of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the Organisation’s internal.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Executive Committee.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Executive Committees’ use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant  doubt on the Organisation’s ability to continue as 
a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Organisation 
to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether  the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events 
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.        
    

We communicate with the Board of Directors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control 
that we identify during our audit.          
   

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT (continued)
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TINASHE I RWODZI           
Registered Public Auditor           
           
Partner for and on behalf of          
 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Chartered Accountants (Zimbabwe)
Public Accountants and Auditors Board, public auditor certificate number 100 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of Zimbabwe, public practice certificate number 253568   
        
September 2018           
Harare, Zimbabwe           
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SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 31 MARCH 2018

2018 2017

ASSETS Notes  US$  US$ 

Non-current assets

Property and equipment   20   1 217 146   1 343 634 

Intangible Assets 21    39 225    49 032 

  1 256 371   1 392 666 

Current assets

Inventory 22    1 443    1 663 

Accounts receivable 23    258 059    416 684 

Members MTP Accounts 24   42 036 932   27 401 389 

Cash at bank and on hand 25   13 004 560   9 026 680 

• Co-ordination centre funds 25.1   10 299 406   6 351 565 

• Special fund - RNE/SAPP Grant 25.2.1   1 345 792   1 441 521 

• Special fund - ZIZABONA 25.2.2    946 762    968 644 

• Special fund - World Bank 25.2.3    412 600    143 277 

• Special fund - African Development Bank 25.2.4  -     121 673 

Total current assets   55 300 994   36 846 416

TOTAL ASSETS   56 557 365   38 239 082 
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FUNDS AND LIABILITIES

Members’ funds

General reserve    306 000    306 000

Members contributions to capital expenditure    686 485    595 942 

Accumulated funds   10 706 990   7 110 720 

Total members’ funds   11 699 475   8 012 662 

Special funds:

African Development Bank  -     121 672 

Development Bank of South Africa  -     175 000 

Norwegian Government Grant (RNE/SAPP)   1 965 926   2 218 479 

ZIZABONA Project Grant    946 763    968 645 

World Bank    207 708    207 762 

Total special funds   3 120 397   3 691 558 

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 26    316 922    167 930 

Members MTP funds 24   41 420 571   26 366 932 

Total current liabilities               41 737 493   26 534 862 

TOTAL FUNDS AND LIABILITIES   56 557 365   38 239 082 
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The above statement of financial position should be read with the accompanying notes

These financial statements were approved by the Directors on 5 September 2018 and signed on its behalf 
by:

              Mr M. Seitlheko                                                                            Mr S Dihwa 
Co-ordination Centre Board Chairperson                                              Co-ordination Centre Manager
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SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL
STATEMENT OF INCOME AND EXPENDITURE
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Notes      
 

2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

INCOME

Members contribution:

Equal share for members   624 146   775 506 

Imported energy   104 024   125 213 

Exported energy   104 024   126 179 

Peak demand   52 012   64 742 

Thermal rating   104 024   129 251 

Host member   52 012   64 626 

Participation fees   115 583   143 612 

Market Trading Platform - Administration fees 5  4 247 424  2 046 121 

Grants 6  3 523 088  1 984 361 

Other income 7   12 045   27 778 

           

Total income  8 938 382  5 487 389 
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EXPENDITURE

Administration costs 8  3 932 080  2 348 183 

Communication costs 9   38 626   36 939 

Market Trading Platform and SCADA expenses 10   194 661   171 480 

Depreciation 11.1   38 269   340 007 

Amortisation 12   9 053   14 823 

Bank charges 13   8 116   13 468 

Marketing and publicity 14   3 665   9 845 

Motor vehicle expenses 15   5 804   5 378 

Occupancy costs 16   56 730   56 039 

Staff costs 17   847 086   672 686 

Travel and subsistence 18   171 025   125 944 

Recruitment costs 19   36 997   42 799 

Total expenditure  5 342 112  3 837 591 

Surplus for the year  3 596 270  1 649 798 

The above statement of income and expenditure should be read with the accompanying notes
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The above statement of changes in members’ funds should be read with the accompanying notes

SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN MEMBER’S FUNDS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Members’
contribution  

for

General
Reserve

USD

capital
expenditure

USD

 Accumulated 
 funds 
 USD 

 Total 
 USD 

Balance at 1 April 2016   306 000   557 442   5 460 922   6 324 364 

Surplus for the year  -    -     1 649 798   1 649 798 

Members contributions  -     38 500  -     38 500 

Balance at 31 March 2017   306 000   595 942   7 110 720   8 012 662 

Balance at 1 April 2017   306 000   595 942   7 110 720   8 012 662 

Surplus for the year  -    -     3 596 270   3 596 270 

Members contributions  -     90 543  -     90 543 

Balance at 31 March 2018   306 000   686 485   10 706 990   11 699 475 
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SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018

Notes 2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Surplus for the year   3 596 270   1 649 798 

Adjustments for:

    Amortisation 21    9 806    14 823 

    Depreciation of property and equipment 20    207 423    643 164 

    Loss/(Profit) on disposals (   1 587)    2 396 

    Interest received (   9 942) (   10 439)

    MTP administration fees receivable    418 096    160 006 

Operating cash flow before working capital changes   4 220 066   2 459 748 

Net effect of working capital changes 28    307 837 (   129 838)

Cash generated from operations   4 527 903   2 329 910 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisition of property and equipment 20 (   79 347) (   157 406)

Acquisition of intangible assets 21  -  (   4 111)

Proceeds from disposal of property and equipment  -     3 063 

Interest received    9 942    9 761 
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Net cash flows utilised in investing activities (   69 405) (   148 693)

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Special funds received (   571 161) (   86 041)

Transfer to rental deposit  -  (   10 491)

Members contributions received    90 543    38 500 

           

Net cash flows (utilised in)/generated from 
financing activities

(   480 618) (   58 032)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents   3 977 880   2 123 185 

Cash and cash equivalents  at beginning of the year   9 026 680   6 903 495 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 25   13 004 560   9 026 680 

The above statement of cashflows should be read with the accompanying notes
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SOUTHERN AFRICAN POWER POOL
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2018         
    
             
1. GENERAL INFORMATION 

Southern African Power Pool (the “Organisation”) is a non-profit making organisation incorporated in 
Zimbabwe.            

             
1.1 Nature of business           

The main object of the Organisation is to co-ordinate the planning and development of the electricity 
interconnections between members’ respective networks and to expand the Interconnected Power 
System and electricity trading in the region.        
     

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out 
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.            
             
2.1 Basis of preparation 

The Organisation’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards, (“IFRS”) and International Financial Reporting Committee (“IFRIC”) 
interpretations. The financial statements are based on statutory records that are maintained under 
the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the Organisation’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or 
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the financial statements 
are disclosed in note 4.           
     

2.1.1 Changes in accounting policy and disclosures
a) International Financial Reporting Standards and amendments effective for the first time for 

31 March 2018 
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Number Effective date Executive summary

Amendment to IAS 7 – Cash
flow statements

Statement of cash flows on
disclosure initiative

Annual periods
beginning on or
after  1 January 
2017

(published Feb
2016) 

In January 2016, the International Accounting 
Standards Board (IASB) issued an amendment to IAS 
7 introducing an additional disclosure that will enable
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in 
liabilities arising from financing activities. 

The amendment responds to requests from investors 
for information that helps them better understand 
changes in an entity’s debt. The amendment will 
affect every entity preparing IFRS financial statements. 
However, the information required should be readily 
available. Preparers should consider how best to 
present the additional information to explain the 
changes in liabilities arising from financing activities.

Amendment to IAS 12 –
Income taxes

Recognition of deferred tax
assets for unrealised losses.

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January 
2017

(published Feb
2016)

The amendment was issued to clarify the requirements 
for recognising deferred tax assets on unrealised 
losses. The amendment clarifies the accounting for 
deferred tax where an asset is measured at fair value 
and that fair value is below the asset’s tax base. It 
also clarifies certain other aspects of accounting for 
deferred tax assets.

The amendment clarifies the existing guidance under 
IAS 12. It does not change the underlying principles for 
the recognition of deferred tax assets.



832018 ANNUAL REPORT

Number Effective date Executive summary

Annual improvements
2014-2016 (part)

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2017 
(published
December 2016) 

These amendments impact 3 standards, one being 
effective from 1 January
2017.  

• IFRS 12,’Disclosure of interests in other entities’ 
regarding clarification of the scope of the standard. 
The amendment clarified that the disclosures 
requirement of IFRS 12 are applicable to interest 
in entities classified as held for sale except for 
summarised financial information (para B17 of 
IFRS 12). Previously, it was unclear whether 
all other IFRS 12 requirements were applicable 
for these interests. These amendments should 
be applied retrospectively for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2017.

b) International Financial Reporting Standards, interpretations and amendments issued but not 
effective for 31 March 2018

Number Effective date Executive summary

IFRS 9 – Financial 
Instruments
(2009  and 2010)

• Financial liabilities
• Derecognition of 

financial
• instruments
• Financial assets
• General hedge
• accounting

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January 
2018

(published July
2014) 

This standard replaces the guidance in IAS 39. It 
includes requirements on the classification and 
measurement of financial assets and liabilities; it also 
includes an expected credit losses model that replaces 
the current incurred loss impairment model.
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Number Effective date Executive summary

Amendment to IFRS 9
• ’Financial instruments’, 
• on general hedge 

accounting

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 
1 January 2018

The IASB has amended IFRS 9 to align hedge 
accounting more closely with an entity’s risk 
management. The revised standard also establishes 
a more principles-based approach to hedge 
accounting and addresses  inconsistencies and 
weaknesses in the current model in IAS 39. Effective 
1 January 2018.

Early adoption of the above requirements has 
specific transitional rules that need to be followed. 
Entities can elect to apply IFRS 9 for any of the 
following:

• The own credit risk requirements for financial 
liabilities.

• Classification and measurement (C&M) 
requirements for financial assets.

• C&M requirements for financial assets and 
financial liabilities.

• The full current version of IFRS 9 (that is, C&M 
requirements for financial assets and financial 
liabilities and hedge accounting). Effective  1 
January 2018.
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Number Effective date Executive summary

Amendment to IFRS 9
• ’Financial instruments’,
• prepayment features 

with
• negative compensation 

and
• modification of 

financial liabilities

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January 
2019

The narrow-scope amendment covers two issues:
• The amendments allow companies to measure 

particular prepayable financial assets with so-
called negative compensation at amortised cost 
or at fair value through other comprehensive 
income if a specified condition is met—instead 
of at fair value through profit or loss. It is 
likely to have the biggest impact on banks and 
other financial services entities. 

• How to account for the modification of a 
financial liability. The amendment confirms 
that most such modifications will result in 
immediate recognition of a gain or loss. This is 
a change from common practice under IAS 39 
today and will affect all kinds of entities that 
have renegotiated borrowings. 

IFRS 15 – Revenue from
contracts with customers.

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January 
2018

(published May
2014)

The FASB and IASB issued their long awaited 
converged standard on revenue recognition on 29 
May 2014. It is a single, comprehensive revenue 
recognition model for all contracts with customers 
to achieve greater consistency in the recognition and 
presentation of revenue. Revenue is recognised based 
on the satisfaction of performance obligations, which 
occurs when control of good or service transfers to a 
customer.
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Number Effective date Executive summary

Amendment to IFRS 15 –
Revenue from contracts with
customers.

Annual periods
beginning on or
after  1 January 
2018
(published April
2016)

The IASB has amended IFRS 15 to clarify the guidance, 
but there were no major changes to the standard 
itself. The amendments comprise clarifications of 
the guidance on identifying performance obligations, 
accounting for licences of intellectual property and the 
principal versus agent assessment (gross versus net 
revenue presentation).  New and amended illustrative 
examples have been added for each of these areas of 
guidance.
The IASB has also included additional practical 
expedients related to transition to the new revenue 
standard.

IFRS 16 – Leases Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2019 – earlier
application
permitted if IFRS
15 is also
applied. 

(published
January 2016)

This standard replaces the current guidance in IAS 
17 and is a far reaching change in accounting by 
lessees in particular. 

Under IAS 17, lessees were required to make a 
distinction between a finance lease (on balance 
sheet) and an operating lease (off balance sheet). 
IFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognise a lease 
liability reflecting future lease payments and a 
‘right-of-use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. 
The IASB has included an optional exemption for 
certain short-term leases and leases of low-value 
assets; however, this exemption can only be applied 
by lessees. 

For lessors, the accounting stays almost the same. 
However, as the IASB has
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Number Effective date Executive summary

IFRS 16 – Leases (continued) Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2019 – earlier
application
permitted if IFRS
15 is also
applied. 

(published
January 2016)

updated the guidance on the definition of a lease 
(as well as the guidance on the combination and 
separation of contracts), lessors will also be affected 
by the new standard. 

At the very least, the new accounting model for 
lessees is expected to impact negotiations between 
lessors and lessees. Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to 
control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. 

IFRS 16 supersedes IAS 17, ‘Leases’, IFRIC 4, 
‘Determining whether an Arrangement contains a 
Lease’, SIC 15, ‘Operating Leases – Incentives’ and
SIC 27, ‘Evaluating the Substance of Transactions 
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease’. 

Amendment to IFRS 4,
‘Insurance contracts’
Regarding the implementation
of IFRS 9, ‘Financial
instruments’ 

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2018.

(published
S e p t e m b e r 
2016)

These amendments introduce two approaches: 
an overlay approach and a deferral approach. The 
amended standard will: 

• Give all companies that issue insurance 
contracts the option to recognise in other 
comprehensive income, rather than profit or 
loss, the volatility that could arise when IFRS 9 
is applied before the new insurance contracts 
standard is issued; and

• Give companies whose activities are 
predominantly connected with insurance an 
optional exemption from applying IFRS 9 until 
2021. The entities that defer the application 
of IFRS 9 will continue to apply the existing 
financial instruments standard – IAS 39. 
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Number Effective date Executive summary

Amendments to IFRS 10,
‘Consolidated financial
statements’ and IAS

Effective date
postponed 

The postponement applies to changes introduced by 
the IASB in 2014 through narrow-scope amendments 
to IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated Financial Statements’ and 
IAS 28 ‘Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures’. 

Amendment to IAS 40,
‘Investment property’

Transfers of investment
property

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2018

(published
December 2016)

These amendments clarify that to transfer to, or from, 
investment properties there must be a change in use. 
To conclude if a property has changed use there should 
be an assessment of whether the property meets the 
definition.

This change must be supported by evidence. 

Annual improvements
2014-2016

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2018

(published
December 2016) 

These amendments impact 2 standards at the end of 
2018: 

• IFRS 1,’ First-time adoption of IFRS’, regarding 
the deletion of short term exemptions for 
first-time adopters regarding IFRS 7, IAS 19, 
and IFRS 10 effective 1 January 2018. 

• IAS 28,’Investments in associates and joint 
ventures’ regarding measuring an associate 
or joint venture at fair value. IAS 28 allows 
venture capital organisations, mutual funds, 
unit trusts and similar entities to elect 
measuring their investments in associates 
or joint ventures at fair value through profit 
or loss (FVTPL). The Board clarified that this 
election should be made separately for each 
associate or joint venture at initial recognition.

Effective 1 January 2018.
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Number Effective date Executive summary

Annual improvements cycle
2015-2017

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2019

(published
December 2017)

These amendments include minor changes to: 
• IFRS 3, ‘Business combination’ - a company 

remeasures its previously held interest in a 
joint operation when it obtains control of the 
business.

• IFRS 11,’Joint arrangements’, - a company does 
not remeasure its previously held interest in a 
joint operation when it obtains joint control of 
the business.

• IAS 12,’ Income taxes’ - The amendment 
clarified that the income tax consequences of 
dividends on financial instruments classified as 
equity should be recognised according to where 
the past transactions or events that generated 
distributable profits were recognised. 

• IAS 23,’ Borrowing costs’ - a company treats 
as part of general borrowings any borrowing 
originally made to develop an asset when the 
asset is ready for its intended use or sale. 
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Number Effective date Executive summary

IFRIC 22, ‘Foreign currency
transactions and advance
consideration’

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2018

(published
December 2016) 

This IFRIC addresses foreign currency transactions or 
parts of transactions where there is consideration that 
is denominated or priced in a foreign currency. The 
interpretation provides guidance for when a single  
payment/receipt is made as well as for situations 
where multiple payment/receipts are made. The 
guidance aims to reduce diversity in practice. 

IFRIC 23, ‘Uncertainty over
income tax treatments’

Annual periods
beginning on or
after 1 January
2019

(published 7
June 2017)

IFRIC 23 provides a framework to consider, 
recognise and measure the accounting impact of tax 
uncertainties. The Interpretation provides specific 
guidance in several areas where previously IAS 12 
was silent. The  Interpretation also explains when to 
reconsider the accounting for a tax uncertainty. Most 
entities will have developed a model to account for 
tax uncertainties in the absence of specific guidance in 
IAS 12. These models might, in some circumstances, 
be inconsistent with IFRIC 23 and the impact on tax 
accounting could be material. Management should 
assess the existing models against the specific 
guidance in the Interpretation and consider the impact 
on income tax accounting.
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c) Practice statement considered for 31 March 2018 year-end

Effective date Executive summary

Practice statement 2: Making
materiality judgements

The Practice
statement is not
a standard, and 
it
is not mandatory
but can be
applied to
financial
statements
prepared from 
14
S e p t e m b e r 
2017.

The objective of the Practice statement is to provide 
guidance for reporting entities that are performing 
materiality assessments when preparing financial
statements in accordance with IFRSs. The Practice 
statement also includes illustrative examples to help 
with the application of the guidance.
The Practice statement:
• uses a definition of materiality aligned with 

the definition in the Conceptual framework for 
Financial reporting;

• considers materiality judgements in relation 
to presentation and disclosure, and also for 
recognition and measurement;

• explains the application of judgement to 
materiality decisions based on the specific 
circumstances of the entity and the changes that 
might occur in those circumstances over time;

• requires an entity to assess whether information 
is material to the financial

• statements, even if it is already included in other 
publicly available information;

• clarifies that the provision of additional 
information required by local regulations is 
permitted, but the information should be 
presented in a way that does not obscure material 
information;

• includes a four-step process, the ‘materiality 
process’, as a guide for materiality judgements, 
including identification, assessment,  organisation 
of the information and, finally, review. 
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2.2 Going concern           
The Organisation’s forecasts and projections, taking into account reasonably possible changes in 
trading performance, show that the Organisation should be able to operate within the level of its 
current financing. After making enquiries, the management team has a reasonable expectation that 
the Organisation has adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the 
foreseeable future. The Organisation therefore continues to adopt the going concern basis in 
preparing its financial statements.         
            

2.3 Foreign currency translation          
(a) Functional and presentation currency

 Items included in the financial statements of the Organisation are measured using the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (“the functional currency”). 
The financial statements are presented in the United  States of America dollar (“US$”), which 
is the Organisation’s functional and presentation currency.       
 

(b) Transactions and balances         
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign 
exchange gains or losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation 
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are 
recognised in the statement of income and expenditure.      
 

2.4 Revenue recognition           
Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable in the ordinary 
course of the Organisation’s activities. The Organisation recognises revenue when the amount of 
revenue can be reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to 
the entity, and when specific criteria have been met for each of the Organisation’s activities, as 
described below.            
 

2.4.1 Members contribution         
 Funds income received is based on a set budget agreed upon by all members of the organisation. 

Contributions made by members are based on set percentages and proportions based on electricity 
usage. The income is brought to account per issued invoice to each of the member countries. 
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2.4.2 Interest income          
 Interest revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic benefts will fow to the 

organisation and the “amount of revenue can be measured reliably.     
        

2.4.3 Grant income          
 Grant income for specific projects is recognised when the respective expenditure has been 

incurred.          
           
2.4.4 Market Trading Platform - Administration fees      

The Organisation earns revenue from charging administration fees on the Market Trading Platform. 
Revenue is recognised when electricity has been supplied to the buyer.    
 

2.5 Operating expenses          
 Operating expenses are recognised in profit or loss upon utilisation of the service or at the date of 

their origin.          
           
2.6 Property and equipment          

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation and any impairment 
losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition and 
installation of the items. 

 
 Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 

appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefts associated with the item will fow 
to the Organisation and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of 
the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income 
statement during the fnancial period in which they are incurred.      
   

2.6.1 Depreciation          
 Property and equipment are stated at cost or revalued amount less accumulated depreciation and 

any accumulated impairment losses.
 Depreciation is provided using the straight line method in order to allocate the historical cost or 

valuation of property and equipment over their estimated useful lives. Depreciation is provided for 
at the following rates per annum:         
 



94 “Enhancing regional electricity trading for regional integration and mitigation of climate change”

Buildings        2.5%
Computer equipment       33.33%
MTP computer equipment      20%
Office equipment       20%
Office furniture and fittings      10%
Motor vehicles        20-25%
SCADA equipment       20%

Land is not depreciated. An item of property and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no 
future economic benefts are expected from its use. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset 
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is 
included in the statement of income and expenditure in the year the asset is derecognised. The Directors 
make an assessment of the useful lives and residual values of the assets on an annual basis.  
           

2.7 Impairment of non-financial assets        
Assets that have an indefinite useful life, for example land, are not subject to amortisation and are 
tested annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation are reviewed for impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). Non- 
financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal 
of the impairment at each reporting date.

      
2.8 Intangible assets
   
    DigSilent software        
 Separately acquired computer software licences are shown on the basis of the costs incurred to 

acquire and bring to use specific software.

 The computer software licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation.           
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Amortisation is calculated using a straight line method to allocate the cost of computer software 
licences over their estimated useful life of 5 years.       
            

2.9 Financial assets           
          

2.9.1 Classification          
The Organisation classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through 
profit or loss, loans and receivables, and available for sale. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification 
of its financial assets at initial recognition. At the year end, the Organisation held only loans and 
receivables.           

 Loans and receivables           
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater 
than 12 months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. 
At year end, the Organisation held only those in current assets. The Organisation’s loans and 
receivables comprise ‘trade and other receivables’ and ‘cash and cash equivalents’ in the statement 
of financial position. As a practical expedient, the Organisation may measure impairment on the 
basis of an instrument’s fair value using observable market prices.     
         

2.9.2 Recognition and measurement        
Loans and receivables are subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.            

             
2.9.3 Offsetting financial instrument         

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of financial 
position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an 
intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The 
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be enforceable in the 
normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy of the Organisation 
or the counterparty.           
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2.9.4 Impairment of financial assets         
 

 Assets carried at amortised cost         
The Organisation assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence 
that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of 
financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of 
impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset 
(a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.   
         

 Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a group of debtors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability 
that they will enter into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation and where observable data 
indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in 
arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

 For the loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between 
the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future 
credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective 
interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognised 
in the statement of comprehensive income. If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount 
rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate determined under the 
contract.

 If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be 
related objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised, the reversal of the 
previously recognised impairment loss is  recognised in the statement of income and expenditure. 
      

2.10  Provisions            
Provisions are recognised when the Organisation has a present legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events and it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits 
will be required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate of the amount of the obligation can 
be made. Provisions are measured at the Organisation’s best estimate of the expenditure required 
to settle the obligation at the reporting date, and are discounted to present value where the effect is 
material.            
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2.11 Other receivables          
Other receivables are measured at initial recognition at cost which is the fair value, and are 
subsequently measured at cost adjusted for subsequent payments made. Appropriate allowances 
for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income 
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired.      
  

2.12 Cash and cash equivalents 
 Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term 

highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to 
an insignificant risk of changes in value.         
    

2.13 Trade payables           
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Trade payables are classified as current liabilities if payment is 
due within one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they 
are presented as non-current liabilities. Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.    
      

2.14 Special funds
 Funds granted for specific purposes are accounted for separately as Special Funds in the statement 

of financial position. They are maintained in a separate bank account. Any interest earned on 
the unused funds is credited to, and bank charges are debited to the Special Fund. The amount 
expended is recognised as income on a systematic and rational basis over the period necessary to 
match them with the related costs. Grants related to assets are capitalised with the amount utilised 
for the period amortised to the income and expenditure account.     
      

2.15 Employee benefits
 
National Social Security Authority Scheme        

The Organisation and all employees contribute to the National Social Security Authority (NSSA) 
statutory pension and benefits scheme, which is a defined contribution scheme. This scheme was 
promulgated under the National Social Security Act of 1989. The Organisation’s obligation under 
the scheme is limited to specific contributions as legislated from time to time, which are presently 
three per cent of  pensionable emoluments.        
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2.16 Market Trading Platform (MTP) bank accounts      
Market Trading Platform (MTP) bank accounts are maintained at Stanbic Bank Botswana Limited. The 
purpose of these accounts is primarily for clearing purposes, accounting for market transactions, 
security custodial services, administration fees, wheeling fees and transmission losses.   
         

3 .FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 

 3.1 Financial risk factors         
Financial risks comprise financial instruments to which the Organisation is exposed during or 
at the end of the reporting period. Financial risks comprise market risk (including the effects of 
changes in foreign currency exchange rates and  interest rates), credit risk and liquidity risk. The 
Organisation’s overall risk management programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial 
markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Organisation’s financial performance.

 The FWG provides principles for overall risk management, as well as policies covering specific 
areas. 

a) Market risk           
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk; price risk, currency 
risk and interest rate risk.

(i) Price risk            
    Price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because  of changes in market prices (other than those arising from interest rate risk and currency 
risk), whether those changes are caused by factors specific to the individual financial instrument 
or its issuer or by factors affecting all similar financial instruments traded in the market. The 
Organisation is not exposed to commodity price risk.       
      

(ii) Foreign exchange risk           
Foreign exchange risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument 
will fluctuate because of  changes in foreign exchange rates.      
      



992018 ANNUAL REPORT

 The Organisation is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, 
primarily  with respect to  the South African rand. Foreign exchange risk arises from future 
commercial transactions, recognised assets and liabilities and net investments in foreign operations 
denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.     
      

 The table below summarises the Organisation’s exposure to foreign exchange risk as at 31 March. 
Included in the table are the Organisation’s assets and liabilities at carrying amounts categorised by 
currency. 

2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

Assets

Botswana Pula    95 952    87 406 

Norwegian Kroner   1 345 792   1 441 521 

South African Rand   1 705 089   1 784 376 

  3 146 833   3 313 303 

2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

Liabilities

Botswana Pula    2 053  -  

Norwegian Krone   1 345 792   1 441 521 

South African rand   1 716 585   1 784 376 

  3 064 430   3 225 897 

Net currency position    82 403    87 406 

There were no hedges in place as at 31 March 2018 (2017: US$nil).
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(iii) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk       
 Interest rate risk arises from borrowings. The Organisation does not have any borrowings at the 

year end (2017: US$nil).         
 

b) Credit risk
 Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss to the other 

party by failing to discharge a contract. Credit risk is managed by the Board. Credit risk arises from 
cash and cash equivalents, deposits with banks, as well as credit exposures to customers, including 
outstanding receivables and committed transactions. For  banks, only those with a strong capital 
base and international shareholder support, as well as good independently-rated scores are used. 
For receivables, senior management assess the credit quality of the customer, taking into account 
its financial position, past experience and other factors. 

The Organisation’s maximum exposure to credit risk by class of financial asset is as follows:

2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

Grant Income and member subscription receivables (part of note 23.1)    154 945    345 553 

Other receivables (part of note 23.1)    29 369    18 253 

Cash and cash equivalents (note 25)    424 096    154 444 

   608 410    518 250 

The fair value of receivables at 31 March 2018 approximates the carrying amounts.
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 The Organisation’s significant debtors are member countries, who make up most of the trade 
receivables balance. The Organisation is confident about the ability of the member countries to 
continue as a going concern. The concentration of credit risk is therefore suitably managed.  

 
 The fair value of cash and cash equivalents at the reporting date approximates the carrying amounts. 
 
 The financial institutions holding cash and cash equivalents of the Organisation have the 

following credit ratings:        

 There is no significant concentration of credit risk with respect to cash and cash equivalents as the 
Organisation holds cash accounts with large financial institutions with sound financial and capital 
cover.  

 The ratings have been obtained from the latest available ratings by the Global Rating Company. 
           

c) Liquidity risk
 Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and the availability of funding 

through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities.

 The Organisation’s liquidity position is monitored by management and reviewed by the FWG.   
Maturity analysis of financial instruments as at 31 March 2018 is as follows: 

Rating 2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

AA-   53 622 025   34 839 874 

AA-    83 896    156 457 

A2   1 345 792   1 441 521 

  55 051 713   36 437 852 
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 On demand 
                                                                                      and less than  

At 31 March 2018                                                                                                 one month

 US$ 

Assets

Cash and bank (note 24 and note 25)   55 041 492 

Trade receivables (note 23)    154 945 

Other receivables (excluding prepayments)    29 369 

Total assets   55 225 806 

Liabilities

Trade payables (note 26)    89 406 

Other payables (excluding statutory liabilities)    7 254 

Total liabilities    96 660 

Liquidity position/gap   55 129 146 

Cumulative liquidity gap   55 129 146 

At 31 March 2017

Assets

Cash and bank (note 25)   36 428 069 

Trade receivables (note 23)    345 553 

Other receivables (excluding prepayments)    18 253 

Total assets   36 791 875 



1032018 ANNUAL REPORT

Liabilities

Trade payables (note 26)    24 868 

Other payables (excluding statutory liabilities)    194 975 

Total liabilities    219 843 

Liquidity position/gap   36 572 032 

Cumulative liquidity gap   36 572 032 

3.2 Capital risk management
 The Organisation’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Organisation’s ability to 

continue as a going concern. The Organisation is funded out of member’s contribution to capital and 
as such there are no borrowings to support the capital structure for which capital risk management 
would be considered necessary          
    

3.3 Fair value estimation 
 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether 
that price is directly observable or estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating 
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Organisation takes into account the characteristics 
of the asset or liability if market participants would take those characteristics into account when 
pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure 
purposes in these financial statements is determined on such a basis.     
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 In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value measurements are categorised into level 1, 
2 or 3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are observable and 
the significance of the inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which are described as 
follows:            

             
 Level 1
 Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  
 
 Level 2
 Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 

either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).    
         

 Level 3
 Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable 

inputs). The hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Organisation 
considers relevant and observable market prices in its valuations where possible.

 At 31 March 2018 the Organisation had no financial instruments measured at fair value (2017: 
US$nil).

 The carrying amounts of financial liabilities and financial assets carried at amortised cost closely 
approximate their fair values. The impact of discounting is not significant due to market terms 
(rates and tenor) and because these are short term in nature.      
             

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS     
Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances.            
 

 4.1 Critical accounting estimates and judgements       
The Organisation makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting 
estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year are addressed below:      
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(a) Useful lives of property, plant and equipment       
The Organisation’s management determines the estimated useful lives, residual values and related 
depreciation charges for its property and equipment. This estimate is based on projected life cycles 
for these assets. It could change significantly as a result of technical innovation and other factors. 
Management will increase the depreciation charge where useful lives are less than previously 
estimated lives, or it will write off or write down technically obsolete or non- strategic assets that 
have been abandoned or sold.

5 MARKET TRADING PLATFORM (MTP) ADMINISTRATION 
FEES

2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

April    253 793    94 046 

May    262 724    81 076 

June    253 592    61 755 

July    325 702    95 584 

August    409 136    236 823 

September    405 432    219 221 

October    490 327    264 437 

November    448 285    280 357 

December    467 728    223 192 

January    449 839    174 799 

February    239 726    165 071 

March    241 140    149 760 

  4 247 424   2 046 121 
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6 GRANTS

European Union  -     18 928 

Development Bank of South Africa/KPMG    2 569    4 207 

World Bank   2 977 843   1 570 684 

ZIZABONA    36 979    36 770 

Norad    505 649    353 636 

ADB     48     136 

  3 523 088   1 984 361 

7 OTHER INCOME

Interest received    9 942    9 763 

Sundry income    2 103    18 015 

   12 045    27 778 
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8 ADMINISTRATIVE COSTS 2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

Audit fees    10 000    10 017 

Computer consumables and networks    8 856    8 051 

Conferences workshops and seminars    3 588    13 174 

Consultancy fees    4 952  -  

Fines and penalties     125  -  

Generator expenses    1 106     795 

Customs, storage and release fees     207  -  

Grant utilised (note 8.1)   3 287 874   2 046 189 

Insurance    13 875    13 224 

Legal fees    1 218  -  

Newspapers, books and periodicals     534     373 

Membership subscription     100     100 

Postages and couriers    6 085    5 438 

Printing, photocopying and stationery    4 688    2 516 

Repairs and maintenance - computer equipment     613     435 

Repairs and maintenance - furniture and fittings    13 104    1 480 

Repairs and maintenance - office equipment    5 008    2 546 

SAPP annual report    5 812    5 649 

Software licences and maintenance    62 121    36 569 

Valuations     158    4 695 

Exchange loss    499 436    191 367 

Cloud Storage    2 620    5 565 

  3 932 080   2 348 183 
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8.1 GRANTS UTILISED

European Union  -     18 928 

Development Bank of South Africa    2 569    4 207 

World Bank   2 742 629   1 561 495 

ZIZABONA    36 979    36 770 

Norad    505 649    424 653 

African Development Bank     48     136 

  3 287 874   2 046 189 

9 COMMUNICATION COSTS

Cellphone charges    5 452    4 470 

Internet charges    24 088    23 675 

Telephone and fax charges    9 086    8 794 

   38 626    36 939 

10 MARKET TRADING PLATFORM AND SCADA EXPENSES

MTP & SCADA hardware maintenance

MTP & SCADA software

MTP & SCADA administration expenses

   15 599    12 600 

   178 719    158 880 

    343  -  

   194 661    171 480 
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11 DEPRECIATION

SAPP Coordination Centre (note 11.1)
SAPP Project Advisory Unit (note 11.2)
Norwegian Government Grant (note 11.3)

   38 269    340 007 

   14 121    11 312 

   155 033    291 844 

   207 423    643 163 

11.1 DEPRECIATION - SAPP COORDINATION CENTRE

Buildings

SCADA & Computer equipment

Furniture and fittings

Motor vehicles and cycles

Office equipment

   8 358    8 767 

   10 047    304 866 

   11 021    7 723 

    891    5 399 

   7 952    13 252 

   38 269    340 007 

11.2 DEPRECIATION - PROJECT ADVISORY UNIT

Computer equipment    6 853    6 432 

Furniture and fittings    2 637    2 151 

Office equipment    4 631    2 729 

   14 121    11 312 

11.3 DEPRECIATION - NORWEGIAN GOVERNMENT GRANT

MTP system computer equipment    155 033    291 844 
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12 SOFTWARE AMORTISATION 2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

Amortisation    9 053    14 823 

   9 053    14 823 

13 FINANCE CHARGES

Bank charges    8 116    13 468 

   8 116    13 468 

14 MARKETING AND PUBLICITY

Advertising and promotions    3 665    9 845 

   3 665    9 845 

15 MOTOR VEHICLE EXPENSES

Motor vehicle fuel

Motor vehicle insurance

Motor vehicle licences and parking fees

Repairs and maintenance - motor vehicles

   2 859    2 344 

   1 007    1 007 

    8     23 

   1 930    2 004 

   5 804    5 378 
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16 OCCUPANCY COSTS

Cleaning expenses

Rates and water charges

Repairs and maintenance - buildings

Repairs and maintenance - grounds and tools

Repairs and maintenance- electricals

Security

   5 641    6 412 

   9 362    8 507 

   14 014    19 421 

   6 671    1 888 

   4 644    4 958 

   16 398    14 853 

   56 730    56 039 

17 STAFF COSTS

Basic salaries

Housing Allowance

Performance bonus

13th Cheque

Acting Allowance

Availability allowance

Transport Allowance

Cash in lieu of leave

Gratuity

Group personal insurance

Group Life Assurance Cover

Medical aid

Medical expenses (first aid box)

   520 754    421 717 

   31 361    25 141 

   26 830    23 190 

   39 848    19 246 

   8 821    9 490 

   18 119  -  

   11 310    9 681 

   28 747    19 475 

   61 781    47 605 

   1 896    2 249 

   5 254    29 008 

   23 804    25 523 

    594     776 
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National Social Security Authority

Bereavement expenses

Overtime

Staff training

Staff uniforms

Staff welfare

Subscriptions allowance

Teas and lunches

Work permits

Worker compensation insurance

Discretionary Payments

Pension

Funeral cover

Sports Equipment & Attire

   3 724    3 344 

 -      424 

   8 886    4 907 

   27 443    5 844 

   1 281    1 011 

   4 662    3 067 

   5 034    2 656 

   4 611    3 349 

   1 500     300 

   6 509    5 272 

 -     5 315 

   3 172    3 015 

    693     621 

    452     460 

   847 086    672 686 
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21 INTANGIBLE ASSET-SOFTWARE

2018
 US$ 

Cost/gross carrying amount
Balance at 1 April 2017    78 225 

Balance as at 31 March 2018    78 225 

Amortisation and impairment
Balance at 1 April 2017
Amortisation

(   29 194)

(   9 806)

Balance amount 31 March 2018 (   39 000)

Carrying amount 31 March 2018    39 225 

2017

Cost/gross carrying amount

Balance at 1 April 2016

Additions, separately acquired

 US$ 

   74 114 

   4 111 

Balance as at 31 March 2017    78 225 

Amortisation and impairment

Balance at 1 April 2016 (   14 370)
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Amortisation (   14 823)

Balance amount 31 March 2017 (   29 193)

Carrying amount 31 March 2017    49 032 

22 INVENTORY 2018 2017

 US$  US$ 

Fuel coupons    1 443    1 663 

23 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE

Other (note 23.1)
Prepayments

   195 686    374 973 

   62 373    41 711 

   258 059    416 684 

23.1 OTHER RECEIVABLES

Other receivables are comprised of the following :

Deposits

Restricted cash

Members’ subscription receivables

Staff debtors

Grant Income receivables

Purchases accruals

VAT receivable

    124 (    240)

   11 496    11 167 

   12 342    172 381 

   11 506 (    959)

   142 603    173 172 

   3 198  -  

   14 417    19 452 

   195 686    374 973 
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Other receivables includes a restricted balance of US$11 496 (2017:US$11 167) held in an offshore 
account as part of the security arrangements of the lease agreement with the PAU premises landlord. 
This represents three month’s rental charge plus interest received in the security deposit account. 

24 MARKET TRADING PLATFORM ACCOUNTS 

SAPP Security Zesco 

SAPP DAM Clearing USD

SAPP NamPower DAM USD

SAPP SEC DAM USD

SAPP EDM DAM USD

SAPP ESKOM DAM ZAR

SAPP BPC DAM USD

DAM Congestion Income 

SAPP ZESA DAM USD 

SAPP DAM transmission losses USD 

SAPP SNEL DAM USD  

SAPP DAM WHEELING USD 

SAPP HCB DAM USD 

SAPP CEC DAM

SAPP LEC USD

SAPP LHPC DAM

  10 795 256   1 734 003 

   375 223   1 941 819 

  6 549 682   1 479 984 

   690 476    338 028 

  1 623 406   1 349 481 

  1 693 593   1 773 209 

  3 946 306   4 780 743 

  13 401 068   13 128 840 

   530 535    237 575 

   192 038    1 122 

   4 973    4 971 

   254 489    16 171 

   6 060    68 561 

   534 217    541 932 

  1 434 657  -  

   4 953    4 950 

  42 036 932   27 401 389 
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24 MARKET TRADING PLATFORM ACCOUNTS (CONTINUED) 2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

Reconciled by:

MTP creditors balance

Administration fees

Congestion income

Loss fees

Exchange loss

Wheeling fees

EDM Oct 2016

  41 420 571   26 366 932 

   241 140    149 845 

   148 136    32 018 

   340 368    102 034 

(   509 473) (   239 806)

   396 190    173 049 

 -     817 317 

  42 036 932   27 401 389 

The reconciling items had not yet been transferred from the members bank accounts as at 31 March 
2018, therefore the MTP members were owing as at that date.

25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

For the purposes of statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include bank balances. Cash 
and cash equivalents comprise the following balances:

Co-ordination Centre funds (note 25.1)

Norwegian Government Grant (RNE/SAPP) (note 25.2.1)

ZIZABONA Project Grant (note 25.2.2)

World Bank (note 25.2.3)

African Development Bank (ADB) (note 25.2.4)

 10 299 406  6 351 565 

 1 345 792  1 441 521 

  946 762   968 644 

  424 096   154 444 

 -     121 673 

 13 016 056  9 037 847 
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Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows:

Cash and bank balances 
Less: restricted cash

 13 016 056  9 037 847 

 ( 11 496)  ( 11 167)

 13 004 560  9 026 680 

25.1 COORDINATION CENTRE FUNDS

Standard Chartered USD

Stanbic USD

Stanbic USD High

Stanbic MTP USD

Stanbic MTP BWP

Stanbic Capital

Petty Cash USD

  83 896   156 457 

  398 534   79 121 

  64 422   64 376 

 8 579 087  5 194 556 

  93 899   87 406 

 1 078 293   768 265 

  1 275   1 384 

 10 299 406  6 351 565 

25.2 SPECIAL FUNDS

25.2.1 NORWEGIAN GOVERNMENT GRANT (RNE/SAPP) - NORWAY

2018
 NOK 

2018
 US$ 

Balance as at 1 April 2017
Interest received

 12 370 177  1 441 521 

  11 879   1 445 

Balance as at 31 March 2018  12 382 056  1 442 966 
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25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

25.2 SPECIAL FUNDS (CONTINUED)

25.2.1 NORWEGIAN GOVERNMENT GRANT (RNE/SAPP) - NORWAY (CONTINUED)

2018
 NOK 

2018
 US$ 

Payments

Aurecon

Workshops

Refund to SAPP

Bank charges

Rate variance

 (1 416 296)  ( 177 159)

 ( 105 080)  ( 13 269)

 ( 269 998)  ( 33 765)

 ( 4 140)  (  498)

 -     127 517 

 (1 795 514)  ( 97 174)

Balance as at 31 March 2018  10 586 542  1 345 792 

2017
 NOK 

2017
 US$ 

Balance as at 1 April 2016
Interest received

 13 468 837  1 623 372 

  13 304   1 536 

 13 482 141  1 624 908 
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Payments

AF Mercados

Atherstone and Cook

Workshops

Refund to SAPP

Bank charges

Rate variance

 ( 43 197)  ( 5 179)

 ( 48 192)  ( 5 757)

 ( 295 895)  ( 35 215)

 ( 722 160)  ( 87 582)

 ( 2 520)  (  283)

 -    ( 49 371)

 (1 111 964)  ( 183 387)

Balance as at 31 March 2017  12 370 177  1 441 521 

25.2.2 ZIZABONA PROJECT

 2018 
US$ 

Balance as at 1 April 2017

Interest Received

  968 644 

   740 

  969 384 

Atherstone and Cook

Conferences

PHD Capital

Refund from Webber Wentzel

Bank charges

 ( 8 444)

 ( 1 302)

 ( 20 000)

  7 181 

 (  57)

 ( 22 622)

Balance as at 31 March 2018   946 762 
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25.2.2 ZIZABONA PROJECT (CONTINUED)

2017
 US$ 

Balance as at 1 April 2016
Interest received

 1 004 274 

   645 

 1 004 919 

Conferences

Sweco International

Webber Wentzel

Withholding tax on interest

 (  941)

 ( 18 104)

 ( 17 092)

 (  138)

 ( 36 275)

Balance as at 31 March 2017   968 644 
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25 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS (CONTINUED)

25.2.3 WORLD BANK PROJECT

2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

Stanbic World Bank USD

Stanbic AFDB-MOZ-ZAM

Stanbic SAPP- PULA 

Stanbic SAPP Rent Guarantee

Stanbic SAPP - DBSA (LUAPULA) 

Stanbic  Kolwezi - Solwezi 

Stanbic MOZ - ZAM

Stanbic  SAPP PAU ZAR

  85 447   142 587 

  19 919  -   

  2 053  -   

  11 496   11 167 

  95 144  -   

  115 173  -   

  94 864  -   

 -      690 

  424 096   154 444 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise the following for the purposes of the statement of cash flows:

Cash and bank balances 

Less: restricted cash

  424 096   154 444 

 ( 11 496)  ( 11 167)

  412 600   143 277 
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25.2.4 AFRICAN DEVELOPMENT BANK PROJECT 2017 
 US$ 

Balance as at 1 April 2017   121 673 

Bank charges  (  49)

Zizabona Power Interconnector Grant refund  ( 121 624)

Balance as at 31 March 2018  -   

Balance as at 1 April 2016   121 808 

Bank charges  (  135)

Balance as at 31 March 2017   121 673 

26 ACCOUNTS PAYABLE 2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

Trade 

Other 

Provisions (note 26.1)

  89 406   24 868 

  7 254  -   

  220 262   143 062 

  316 922   167 930 
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26.1 PROVISIONS

Leave pay 
 provision 

 US$ 

 Gratuity 
 provision 

 US$ 

Performance 
 bonus 

 provision 
 US$ 

Total 
 US$ 

Carrying amount at 1 April 2017

Additional provisions

Amount utilised

  45 419   76 886   20 757   143 062 

  28 747   61 781   26 830   117 358 

 ( 5 581)  ( 16 668)  ( 17 909)  ( 40 158)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2018   68 585   121 999   29 678   220 262 

Carrying amount at 1 April 2016

Additional provisions

Amount utilised

  40 470   90 976   13 082   144 528 

  19 475   47 605   23 190   90 270 

 ( 14 526)  ( 61 695)  ( 15 515)  ( 91 736)

Carrying amount at 31 March 2017   45 419   76 886   20 757   143 062 

27 RELATED PARTIES DISCLOSURE

2018
 US$ 

2017
 US$ 

Payments to key management staff   297 526   298 214 

Amounts owed by key management staff  -     1 255 

28 NET EFFECT OF CHANGES IN WORKING CAPITAL

Decrease/(increase) in accounts receivables   158 625  ( 77 490)

Decrease/(increase) in inventory
Increase/(decrease) in accounts payables

   220  (  435)

  148 992  ( 51 913)

  307 837  ( 129 838)
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29 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE

As at the date of approval of the financial statements, there were no material adjusting or non-adjusting 
events after the reporting date.

30 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

There were no known commitments and contingencies as at the end of the year.
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